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FRIDAY, MAY 8, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m. 

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board sits today to continue the oral hearing of Phase 2 of EB-2008-0219, an application of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This portion of the hearing deals with Issue 7, which is:

"Is Enbridge's request for approval of a change in the requirements for the contracting of upstream transportation that would require direct-purchase bundled service customers to contract for firm upstream transportation appropriate?"


This morning we will continue with the cross-examination of Enbridge's panel.  Before we do that, I wanted to let you know something, in the event that you don't.  As you know, we've always broadcast -- for some time, we've broadcast these hearings on air.  


Recently, we've added an innovation that we now have video.  So just in case you're not wearing your best suit, next time you might want to do that, since you will be seen, and in case you want to tell your family and friends to watch, they can see you there.


Are there any preliminary matters?


MR. CASS:  Not that I'm aware of, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I understand that Mr. Hoaken is going to begin today.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, that's right, Madam Chair.  Good morning.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - Panel 1, Resumed:

Malini Giridhar, Previously Affirmed

Edwin Overcast, Previously Sworn

Ian MacPherson, Previously Sworn
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. HOAKEN:

MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you, and good morning to the panel.


I'd like to start, if I may, by asking the panel to look at -- I believe it's TCPL's answer or response to CME No. 2, and it's in Mr. Vegh's brief, which might be the easiest way to look at it, which was marked as HD1.2, at page 45.


And as I understand it, Ms. Giridhar, you told Mr. Vegh yesterday that until approximately 2003, almost all of the deliveries into the CDA were backed by firm transportation arrangements; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it's my understanding that we had very little turnback prior to 2003.


MR. HOAKEN:  That's my understanding, as well.  And when we look at this chart, then, at the bottom of page 45, what we see under the column "Long term firm" is expressed as a percentage, the percentage of gas delivered into the CDA that comes by firm transportation arrangements; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so what we see as we look at this, is that, in the year 2003 and 2004, and, again, I believe, in 2006-2007, there was actually a lower proportion of gas delivered via firm transport than in the current year or the most recent year; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I presume you're referring to the 52.7 in 2003-2004 and the 53.9 in 2008-2009?


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  Exactly.


MS. GIRIDHAR: Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And I'm simply asking you to agree, and I think it's fairly straightforward, that in those years, 2003-2004, and, again, in 2006-2007, the proportion of gas delivered into the CDA via firm transport was less than in the most recent year.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And can you just help us understand, then, because what I had understood from your earlier evidence was that part of the reason for this issue crystallizing was that you'd realized that there was a lower proportion of firm transport?   Why was this issue not raised, then, by Enbridge back in 2003-2004 or in 2006-2007?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In 2003-2004, that was the year that a lot of turnback happened.  And, again, I'm speaking based on my understanding, because I was not actually a part of this group at the time.


So my understanding is that certainly Enbridge agreed with the philosophy that we should accommodate turnback and that we should allow the direct-purchase community to make their own arrangements to provide firm deliveries into the franchise.


It was early days.  I really don't know if we looked at the Index of Customers and assessed whether the level of transportation was adequate or not.  What I do know is that the numbers sort of jumped around a fair bit.  


When we looked at the firm transport for -- that was shown under the Index of Customers, we certainly had over 200,000 gJs of firm transport held by parties other than ourselves in 2004, and then we had, you know, more than what was required for the franchise in 2005.


And it's subsequent to that that we've seen quite a dramatic reduction in firm transport.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But focusing again on the numbers in this column, there was no evidence of any system failure in 2003-2004 or in 2006-2007, when the proportion of firm transport was less than it was in the most recent year; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree that there was no instance of system failure.  I would, however, state that January 15th, 2004 -- and that came out in TCPL's evidence, and forgive me if I'm not able to point to it right now --that was a day where we had a very similar degree day number to our design day.  Our design day is 39.5, and I think it was close to 39.  


We also know that on that day, 100 percent of IT was cut; 70 percent of diversions were cut.  And the following November was when we saw the huge jump in firm contracts to the franchise.


So anecdotally, what I've heard is that a lot of market participants reacted to the restrictions that happened the preceding winter and decided to take on firm transport.  Again, these were all early days since large-scale turnback had happened, and presumably that was an indication that the market did function and the market did react.


The problem for a planner and the utility, in its system operator role, is that that provides the utility no certainty that the market will, in fact, react.  And if reaction is always in response to a historical occurrence, well, what if history does not repeat itself?


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  But that incident that you're referring to in January 2004, as I understand it, was colder than the day you told us about yesterday in January 2009; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it was.  It was --


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  It's my understanding the average temperature was in the order of minus 20 degrees on that day; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  It was very close to our design day.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And so the system was able to function on that day without any evidence of system failure; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The system certainly functioned for the purposes of Enbridge's franchise area, also noting that there was an excess of 200,000 gJs of firm capacity to the franchise at that time.


But my understanding is that there were serious concerns in a lot of market downstream of us at that time, particularly in the New England states, where there was a serious shortage of supply or capacity.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But I'm going to suggest to you, simply, that if the experience of that day in January 2004 had raised a serious concern for Enbridge about the security of supply, it would have come forward to this Board with this proposal as a result of that; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, what Enbridge saw the following November was a very significant increase in the amount of long-term firm contracts to the franchise that winter that addressed that concern.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And just looking at this chart again, what you'll see is that in the last decade or so, the proportion of gas delivered by firm transport has been below, and in some cases, well below the 90 percent threshold that Enbridge is now proposing be imposed; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And I should make it clear that the threshold that's being imposed is only for the small-volume segment of the market.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There's obviously a significant amount of load that corresponds to large volume and that's not included in our proposal.  So that needs to be factored --


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- into these numbers.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, let me just touch briefly on something you discussed, I believe, with Mr. Vegh yesterday, and this was also the subject of IRs submitted by Direct Energy.  But I think what you've acknowledged is that marketers such as Direct Energy have performed within Enbridge's terms of reference during normal operating conditions, but also during peak day conditions; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly that has been the case up until the situation this January, again, when all the supply did in fact show up -– but it did not show up on the timely nomination window, which is the NAESB or the North American standard for confirming gas.

MR. VEGH:  Right, but as you've already told us, Enbridge was even on that day able to balance its load at the end of the day?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  At the end of the day, we were able to balance our loads.  But I should again make the point that ultimately it's not just from a reliability perspective.  Certainly being able to balance over 24 hours is a very important requirement, but there are several times when hourly supply shortfalls are also a big issue for Enbridge, again keeping in mind the design of our system.


We have no compression on our system.  What we call the "morning lift" is sort of from 5:00 a.m. to about 8:00 or 9:00 a.m. is at the tail end of the gas day.  In order to serve our morning lift we rely on the limited amount of line pack that our systems can have, so we get about four or five hours' worth of line pack.

    So essentially the biggest draw on our system is towards the end of the gas day.  And if you do not have the assurance that the supply is going to show up until very late within the gas day, it does throw some reliability concerns on whether you can meet demand during the morning lift.

    And again, if there is any loss of system pressure within the distribution system, and we lose a part of that system -- I mean, that could happen during the morning lift or, you know, just over a few hours when everybody's thermostats flip up.

    So I would not take this issue lightly as a system planner and as a system operator.  Our gas control group needs a lot of assurance that all the gas is going to show up, in fact, the previous day, and certainly very early into the gas day.

MR. HOAKEN:  In your evidence yesterday, in explaining part of the rationale for your proposal that's before the Board, as I understood it, you raised the spectre of a failure of the system that would cause an outage for hundreds of thousands of residential customers.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And I think it was in that context, Ms. Giridhar, that you offered a figure of $12 million; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  In the context of 100,000 customers.

MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  Thank you.

And as I understand it, Enbridge has a very detailed contingency or emergency plan that addresses exactly what would happen if there was a shortfall in supply; is that fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is fair.  We have an emergency curtailment process.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as I understand it -- perhaps we can look at it together.  It's, again, in Mr. Vegh's brief, which might be the easiest way for us to look at it.  It's at page 183 of that brief.


And there's a slide at the top of the page that says "Emergency procedures manual curtailment".  And I'm taking from that that this slide is a summary of the contents of a more detailed manual; is that fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. MacPHERSON:  This is the manual here.

    
MR. HOAKEN:  That's the manual.  Okay.

And so this is intended just to give an overview, I take it, of how Enbridge would respond in the case of a shortfall or a failure of direct shippers to send their gas.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

MR. HOAKEN:  And so if we look at the first phase, which actually is Phase 0, as I understand it, that calls for the curtailment of all interruptible customers, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And those are customers, as I understand it, in a separate rate class, which is premised upon the fact that they may be interrupted from time to time; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  That's part of the deal, in other words, that -–

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

MR. HOAKEN:  -- they understand that by paying a lower amount, that their service may be interrupted from time to time?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And so as I understand it, in the case of a shortfall in deliveries, the first step that would be taken by Enbridge would be to curtail those customers who actually expect that they will be curtailed at certain times.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  If they were not curtailed already, because, again, keeping in mind that we budget that our interruptible customers could be curtailed about 10 times a year, between 10 to 15 times a year.  So if it was a cold day to start with, our peak-day plan might call for that curtailment, you know, as a standard matter of course.

So if we had a further supply shortfall, obviously we've already called on them.  You then have to go down the list.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And you've anticipated my next question, which was:  There are degrees of curtailment for that class of customers.  You could curtail all of them 100 percent of their supply.  That's at the far end of the spectrum.  And then the near end of the spectrum is you could curtail only some of them, some portion of their supply.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  Typically what we would look at is to see:  Is the curtailment required in our EDA or is it required in our EDA and our CDA?  The EDA part of the system is generally tighter.

And then again we have three categories of curtailment.  We have customers who are supposed to go off in four hours, some customers who go off with 16 hours' notice, and typically those would be the customers that you would call on if you're already close to the conditions on that date.

And then we have some customers that would be curtailed at 72 hours' notice, and that curtailment is usually for supply -- storage inventory management purposes, and really not something that you could rely on for short-notice situations.  Is there anything...

MR. MacPHERSON:  No, that's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Can we speak about then what happened on January 13, 2009?  What degree of curtailment was there then for this class of customers we're speaking about?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MacPHERSON:  We had a full curtailment of all interruptible class customers, including four-, 16-, and 72-hour notice.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as I understand it, those customers, though, were then able to bring in an extra 440,000 gJs into the CDA; is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Over the three days.  I should state that those –-

MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Over the three days.

MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should also state that the decision to curtail those customers was taken the preceding week because we saw the weather forecast, and again, there was a heightened awareness of the amount of firm transport to the franchise.

So we took a decision, potentially, speaking from memory, say, the Wednesday of the preceding week, to curtail them.  And that gave them enough time to then arrange for supplies if they needed them.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Which they were successfully able to do.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I agree, yes.  They were ultimately successful in being able to do that.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Okay.  So then if we look at your emergency plan, we talked about Phase 0.  So if you get to the point of a full curtailment of all of your interruptible customers and you still have inadequate supply, you then have to go, as I understand it, to Phase 1; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is right.  And actually, I just wanted to add one thing about the experience this January.  Certainly a lot of customers ordered what's called CDS or additional gas so that they could remain on gas and yet be curtailed, if you will, essentially by bringing additional supplies over and above what they would bring.

Because the gas was not scheduled all on the timely nomination window, but sort of later on within the day, again, you can imagine the anxiety that gas control would have felt, in that they did not see the demand fall off, because there was an expectation that the supply would arrive.  And so these customers continued to consume.  And yet all of the gas was not necessarily confirmed on a timely basis; it was confirmed later on in the day.

So again, completely grant the fact that the system did work.  But I'm sure you would appreciate that from a gas control perspective, our controllers were quite concerned that they weren't seeing the load reductions, and yet not all of the supply had been confirmed until later on.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  Let's go back to my question then.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry.

MR. HOAKEN:  My question about Phase 1 then would be what you would do if the curtailment of interruptible customers was not sufficient, so if you still had a shortfall, in other words; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And as I understand it, looking at this briefly, you would then cascade down through -- or no, I'm sorry.  In Phase 1 it would be all large-volume firm customers over 1.5 million cubic metres; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And if you then fully implemented Phase 1, that would address a shortfall, as I understand it, according to your plan, of 269,000 gJs.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  That is the estimated contract demand of customers in that group.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  So by implementing Phase 1, you would be able to address a shortfall of 269,000 gJs.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Assuming that all of those customers responded, again keeping in mind that these are firm customers and they have a reasonable expectation that they should continue to be able to use gas.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  But in Phase 1, we're not talking about residential customers.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And then as you look at Phase 2 -- this is the cascading -- there's a number of classes of customers here in Phase 2.  And as I understand it, the plan then -- if the steps taken up to that point had not been sufficient to address the shortfall, then you would roll out the plan, cascading down through these classes of customers; is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And the cumulative shortfall that would be addressed through the implementation of Phase 2 would be 227,000 gJs.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, assuming that all firm customers responded to the request.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And so what you have got, then, if you implement Phase 1 and Phase 2, you've addressed a shortfall of over half-a-million gJs; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, again with the caveat that these represent the contract amount quantities of all these customers. They may or may not actually all be coincident on that same day in terms of using their contract demand quantities.  For example, you know, if there's an industrial customer and they were only using -- they were only running one shift instead of two, then we would have expected a much larger load reduction.  That may not actually happen.  


And we would typically expect that the Phase 2 curtailment would have a fairly low effective ratio, because you have to contact 800 customers within a few hours, convince them to get off gas when they have no expectation that they would actually need to curtail, and also assume that they were consuming at their full capacity on that day.


So as you can imagine, that's why at the bottom I've said again that, you know, typically you would expect to get half of all that to be effective.  So you couldn't really sum up those two numbers and say:  I could expect to get half a million of load off, or half a million gJs of load off within a few hours.  That would be unreasonable of us to expect.


MR. HOAKEN:  I see.  So although there's this plan, then, to address the contingency, what you're telling us is it's not necessarily going to be effective in achieving what you want to achieve?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  But in any case, have you done any forecasting of what level of load you would be able to address through the implementation of Phases 0, 1, and 2?  


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  For the purpose of analyzing this issue, again, you know, you do have to assess some probability.  I think we assumed that Phase 1 could give us, you know, maybe close to 200,000 and that Phase 2 could give us about 100,000, and it's coming up with 300,000.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And that's what I was going to ask you, then, is that:  Is that where the $300,000 --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. HOAKEN:  Sorry, where, the 300,000 gJ figure comes from?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  GJ, that's right.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so, as I understand it, then, even by your own forecasting, implementing Phases 1 and 2 – and actually, stopping there for a minute, have you done any forecast of what load would be addressed or what shortfall would be addressed by the implementation of Phase 0?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's part of our supply plan.  So --


MR. HOAKEN:  On peak days?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  On peak day we have an expectation that we would get -- I think it's approximately 180,000 gJs.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And it's not necessary to look at that.  But the point is over and above that, then, Phases 1 and 2 address, by your own estimate, a shortfall of approximately 300,000 gJs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And I should add an enormous operational effort and cost, because you would have to mobilize -- and maybe I'll let Mr. MacPherson talk to how we would do that.


MR. HOAKEN:  That's not really my question.  My question is:  If you've implemented Phases 1 and 2, you haven't touched residential customers; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And so you've addressed a shortfall of 300,000 gJs without touching or having to do anything in relation to the supply of residential customers; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is the assumption that we made.  I don't -- I guess what I'm trying to say is that the effectiveness of something like this has certainly not been tested, and we've not been in a situation where we've had to test it.


Through some mock exercises, we have recently tried to do a forecast and understand, you know, if we called a bunch of large firm customers and asked them to go off gas, how quickly could they go off gas?


In fact, we did that exercise earlier this -- I think maybe just after the winter was over, or maybe in the last few months.  Anyway -- and the results weren't good because, again, you know, firm customers don't expect to be cut, even if they are the largest customers on our system.


So when we asked them, you know, how quickly could you get off gas, the kind of the response we get -- and they might not have been in the avoid category -- is that:  Oh, we may have severe damage to our equipment, and we may not have somebody who could switch our gas use down.  We may not have somebody that you could contact on a timely basis.


So all of these gave us a lot of discomfort around even the estimate that we put down here, which was up to 300,000.  By the way, this was done last year, and the mock exercise was conducted some time this year.


MR. HOAKEN:  So that very thick manual that Mr. MacPherson is now looking at, six inches or so of paper, may be worthless?  It may not be an accurate reflection at all of what would happen in a shortfall; is that what you're saying?


MR. MacPHERSON:  It's impossible to predict how effective it can be.  It is a plan with details of customers and volumes.  These customers don't expect to be interrupted.  They don't have procedures and plans in place.  They don't have good contact information.   They're not expecting this, so it's hard to predict how effective -- and what time of day this could occur.  If it's the middle of the night, you know, what would happen?


MR. HOAKEN:  But you've spent significant effort and ratepayer dollars attempting to analyze it, and that's, I take it, what led to the production of this very thick manual that you have in front of you; correct?


MR. MacPHERSON:  It is reasonable to have a contingency such as this, of course, and I believe it would have some effect.  It's just impossible to predict how much.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  So it's not a gut impression or a guess.  You have done some reasoned and considered analysis.  The result is this thick manual, which is summarized in this chart that Ms. Giridhar and I have been looking at; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so that represents your very best analysis of what would happen in the case of a system shortfall?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and this is something that we do review periodically through our mock emergency exercises.  As well, portions of this may be tested if we actually had a line outage that was localized.  For example, if valves need to be fixed on a busy or an important piece of pipe, you would identify who the large volume customers are and let them know that you need them to reduce their load.  


So we've certainly used the manual in actual instances, perhaps in a narrow or localized fashion, and we certainly used them through all of our mock emergency exercises.


It's a constantly improving plan.  I mean, right now we have more metering capability than we had, say, even 10 years ago.  We're looking to see if we can get web downloads on some of the largest customers on our system.


So yes, we have a plan in place.  I wouldn't call it worthless.  It's been used.  Do we know that it's 100 percent effective?  We know that it is not and we have to work constantly on improving it.


MR. HOAKEN:  But even allowing failures of customers to respond, as you've outlined, your best estimate is that by implementing Phases 1 and 2, you could address a shortfall of approximately 300,000 gJs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and this is actually -- one thing is not mentioned here.  It's making the assumption that all these people actually had their gas come in.  So it could address the shortfall of residential customers, as well.  That's not a given either.  Certainly the system gas customers in that category would probably have their gas come in because it's all supported by firm transport.


But if you already got direct-purchase large-volume customers not having their gas come in, and then expect that they can continue to use gas, in addition you've got residential volumes also not come in, you can appreciate how quickly this could become a very serious situation for the company.


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, that's really what I'm getting at, is I'm suggesting to you -- I'm going to suggest that in order to get to the doomsday scenario that you told us about of 100,000 residential customers being cut off, there would have to be many levels of failure, including failure of your own contingency plan; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think, again, the contingency plan is assuming that all of the large-volume load here is getting their supply in and you're able to curtail them.


So we've talked about the ineffectiveness -- potential ineffectiveness of getting all of that curtailment off.  The other side of that equation is that the supply for all of those customers actually shows up, so you can address the potential shortfall for other customers.  


But if all of these customers are relying on the same contractual arrangement to get gas into the franchise and it's all correlated and, you know, the bulk of the supply fails to show up, yes, you are looking at a very serious situation, and that was the whole intent of this EMT presentation.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Giridhar, can I interrupt?  Your responses are becoming so lengthy that I'm losing the answer to the question that was asked.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  And I think they're becoming quite repetitive, too.  I've gotten a sense of your concerns, but I haven't heard the response to the question.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, could you repeat your question?


MR. HOAKEN:  Sure.  I simply suggested to you, which I think is now self-evident, that if you get to cutting off 100,000 residential customers, there have been many levels of failure, including failure of your own contingency plan?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would expect that there would have been other failures, because essentially losing residential customers is that you haven't cut them off.  You had loss of system pressure and they have just stopped receiving their gas.


So, yes, I would agree with that.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  So the point is that Enbridge has devoted significant time, energy and resources to developing a plan that is designed to avoid the need to cut off residential customers in the case of a system shortfall; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And although you keep telling me about assumptions that have been made, I take it if those assumptions were not reasonable, you wouldn't have used them in the preparation of the contingency plan.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  Those were the best assumptions we could make.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And so my point is simply, if you get to cutting off residential customers, it means that your contingency plan has not been successful in addressing a shortfall of 300,000 gJs, correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And if that's the case, you've got a lot bigger problem than the fact that direct shippers haven't got 200,000 gJs on firm transport, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't understand why you would come to that conclusion.

MR. HOAKEN:  Well, if you get to a shortfall of 300,000 gJs and you get to cutting off residential customers, that's going to happen because of factors in addition to the fact that direct shippers didn't deliver their gas; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the primary reason would be the non-delivery of a direct-shipper gas.  The contingency measures would have been demonstrated to have been not fully effective.  I agree with that.  But the primary reason would have been the lack of delivery of gas.

MR. HOAKEN:  And lack of 100 percent of delivery of gas by direct shippers.  That's the premise, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Which has never happened, to your knowledge.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  Again, we were talking about probabilities when only 18 percent is underpinned by firm, as opposed to a much larger percentage in the past.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Now, in the course of this discussion about this doomsday scenario of 100,000 residential customers being cut off, Dr. Overcast mused about a period of an outage of two weeks.

Now, does your contingency plan address the length of time that you would expect the system to be out in the case of a shortfall?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MacPHERSON:  The answer is no, that it's not time-specific.  It would be dependent on the situation and the specific occurrence.

MR. HOAKEN:  And is the time frame addressed in any way, even to identify the factors that would affect how long the system is out?

MR. MacPHERSON:  It would be that we have an emergency response committee that would meet under a given situation and would make decisions based on the scenario and make action plans on time and the restoration that would occur.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  So am I understanding you, Mr. MacPherson, you've done no forecasting at all, then, about what the likely period of outage would be?  That's not part of the 6-inch –-

MR. MacPHERSON:  I would say no, but we've done -- we've played scenarios out where we have different specific instances that have occurred, and you know, what action we would take and how long the outage would be.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And are you aware of there having been an outage on any gas system that lasted two weeks?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That last...

MR. HOAKEN:  That lasted two weeks?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  On our system?

MR. HOAKEN:  On any system.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Would you please excuse us?


[Witness panel confers.]

DR. OVERCAST:  Well, there is some evidence about how long outages take.  There was an outage in Lexington, Massachusetts on key-span system.  I believe there were 1,800 customers out.

MR. HOAKEN:  Can I stop you there?  What year was that?

DR. OVERCAST:  That would be 2005, I believe.


MR. HOAKEN:  1,800 --


DR. OVERCAST:  1,800 customers out.  They had over 260 crews in to help them restore service, and I believe that it took at least three days to restore service for that many customers.  So –-

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.

DR. OVERCAST:  -- just do the math and recognize that if you had 100,000 customers out, how many crews it would take, bringing every crew you could bring in.  Two weeks is a reasonable sort of minimum -- minimal effort to get that to occur.

MR. HOAKEN:  Now, as I understand it, your expertise, Doctor, is in the field of economics.

DR. OVERCAST:  Well, gas -- I've been in the gas business for a long time, I mean, over 30 years, so -–

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Have you ever had to restart somebody's meter?

DR. OVERCAST:  The company that I work for has had to restart meters in the past, yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  But my point is -- I don't mean to be glib.  I accept your expertise in the field of economics.  But you'll agree that there are other people in a better position to speak to the operational impact of having to restart a system; is that fair?

DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.  But I'm basing it on having been through restarting portions of the system, as well as reviewing the history in the 1970s.  Gas companies had significant curtailments, and in fact Atlanta Gas Light Company, the governor declared a state of emergency and closed all the schools and all the big industrial customers.

MR. HOAKEN:  And we've come a long way since the '70s, haven't we, Doctor?

DR. OVERCAST:  Well, we sure have, but it's still the same process.  You have to go visit each home, turn off every customer's gas.  I mean, think about visiting 100,000 premises.

MR. HOAKEN:  And that's the assumption you're making, I take it, is that there would have to be a visit to 100,000 premises.

DR. OVERCAST:  No.  That's a fact.  That's the way you restore the system.  You have to turn off the gas at every meter, and you have to repressurize the system, and then you have to go back and turn on the gas at every meter, and that second trip involves you having access to the premise to make sure that all the pilot lights and everything else work.  And that's the process that they use to restore gas.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  So in any case, I think you've helped me understand that your ballpark of two weeks is simply based on an extrapolation which may or may not be correct, from this experience of 1,800 customers?

DR. OVERCAST:  Well, I mean, there's been other outages of similar or longer length of small numbers of customers, yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.

DR. OVERCAST:  I mean it's something the gas system wants to avoid altogether, is an outage of small customers.

MR. HOAKEN:  Now, could I ask you to look at DE's IR to Enbridge, No. 7, please, Ms. Giridhar?

And as I understand it, Enbridge is agreeing with the proposition that the firm transport requirement it's seeking to have this Board impose will not lead to any more operational capacity; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  The proposal is around ensuring that we reserve the capacity to meet the needs of customers in the franchise.  It's not about creating more operational capacity.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as I understand your supplemental evidence -- and you can turn it up if you like, it's paragraph 6 -- you've said that on the day in January 2009 that we discussed, you've said that on that date demand exceeded capacity on the TCPL main line; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

MR. HOAKEN:  And if demand exceeds capacity, it seems to me there's two ways to deal with that.  One is curtailment that we'd discussed; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And the other is excess or additional capacity –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  -- to bring the gas in from somewhere else -–

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  -- or on some other route?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And if I could ask you to turn up Enbridge's response, it should be in the same area that you're in right now, to DE's IR No. 14.

As I understand the gist of that answer, what Enbridge is saying is that it's not aware of any open seasons for additional long-haul capacity; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  On TCPL's system; that is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, into the CDA.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And you'll agree with me that one of the reasons -- one of the likely reasons for that is that there's already sufficient, or indeed, excess capacity into the CDA?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is certainly a lot of uncontracted-for capacity on TransCanada's system.

MR. HOAKEN:  Which is the same as what I'm characterizing as excess capacity.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And I'd also mention that what we're talking about is ensuring that space is reserved for the franchise's needs on the days that it is most likely to be needed.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Stay with me here.  Turn to the transcript from the April 22nd Technical Conference.  If you look at page 174 and at line 26, starting at line 26, what you've confirmed here, as I read it, Ms. Giridhar, is that there's not presently any short-haul capacity into the CDA; is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so going back to my premise about how you deal with a situation where demand exceeds supply, or at least it exceeds capacity, then one of the ways to address that situation is to add additional short-haul capacity into the CDA; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And doing so would address the security of supply concerns that Enbridge has; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And doing so would not then force direct shippers onto the TCPL main line -- exclusively onto the TCPL main line and to access a declining basin, because that's the effect of your proposal, isn't it?  


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly if there's constraints and there's only one path that's available today, the outcome would be that we would have to acquire transport on the only pipeline that has uncontracted-for transport, which would be long-haul TCPL.


MR. HOAKEN:  Which is the TCPL main line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Certainly that would change if they were to make more short-haul capacity available.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  So I'm simply asking you to agree with me that an alternative means of addressing the security of supply concern that you appear to have would be for there to be build of new short-haul capacity into the CDA.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.

Now, if I could ask you to turn up your supplemental evidence, please, at paragraph 14?  And in this paragraph, as I understand it, Ms. Giridhar, what you're discussing is the vertical-slice methodology; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If you give me a minute?  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And as I understand both what you've said here and what you've said in your evidence so far in cross-examination, is that it's not implementable -- I'm not sure if that's a word, but it's not implementable for at least two years; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And is it your position -- is it Enbridge's position that if this Board -- if this Board required that the vertical slice be implemented sooner than that, that it would be very difficult to do?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There's two aspects to this.  In the time frame that we are talking about, because no additional builds are practically possible into the franchise -- it takes a number of years to build new pipeline capacity -- we would be looking at the scenario where Enbridge goes out and contracts for TransCanada long haul, on behalf of the entire marketplace, to firm up the remaining amount, and then we would --


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay, let me just stop you.  I think you're telling me now what the difficulties are, and I guess what I was just asking you to do is just if you can confirm for me that there are difficulties.  Your position is if asked to implement sooner than 24 months, it would be difficult to do.  Is that a fair summary of your position?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and I was just --


MR. HOAKEN:  Because if it is, I don't really need you to tell me what the difficulties are.  I'll accept, for the purposes of my next question, that you're absolutely correct.  So it would be difficult to implement sooner than four months.  Would it also be more costly if you were --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it would be.


MR. HOAKEN:  -- asked to implement it sooner than 24 months?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, if you forgive me, I was just going to get to the fact that there were two points.  One is the acquisition of capacity and the other is having the systems in place to do that.


MR. HOAKEN:  And I accept all of that, which is why -- I don't mean to cut you off, but I'm not taking issue with any of that.  I just simply want to understand that Enbridge's position is that, if required to implement the vertical slice sooner than 24 months, it would be more costly, more difficult and more challenging than if it was provided with a 24-month window?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's fair.


MR. HOAKEN:  Is that a fair summary?  Okay.  And so, as I understand it, then, what Enbridge is proposing in this proceeding, though, is that the direct-purchase community, direct shippers, be obliged to implement its proposal in less than six months.  And you'll agree with me that if such a proposal, which is a fundamental change -- I think you've acknowledged that -- has to be implemented in that time frame, there will be difficulties and expenses, just as Enbridge would encounter those if it was forced to implement vertical slice in less than 24 months?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge's understanding of this is certainly -- and if I may just be allowed to explain my thinking here, the issue around vertical slice was more about getting business systems into place, which requires IT build and that sort of thing.  


Our understanding around requiring firm transport is that the obligation to bring gas already exists.  Customers -- all customers pay for firm transport for the customers of direct-purchase arrangements.  The thinking there was that while presumably if firm transport is not being used today, it is non-firm transport that's being used -- and I agree with Mr. Vegh that I did not dwell a whole lot on the STFT situation.


If that is the case, really, the direct-purchase agent would be going from a method of procurement where there is no commitment to pipe, to one where there is commitment to pipe.


And my thinking was that that would not take a whole lot of time to change.  But since then, I guess we've understood that there are actually hedges also involved in lieu of taking transportation, and certainly that could mean that there will be some costs.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And if you'd engaged in any consultation prior to filing your proposal, you might have learned about those hedges earlier; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is a fair comment.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, just going back to vertical slice, if I understand it, this idea or proposal that's referenced in paragraph 14 of your supplemental evidence, is it also calling for -- or at least does it apply to all utility assets, including storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The concept of vertical slice, as listed here, applies to the current obligations of direct-purchase customers, which is to bring the same amount of gas every day of the year.  So it would result in an allocation of the transport assets required to fulfill that obligation, which is to bring the same amount of gas every day of the year.


MR. HOAKEN:  But not storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Excuse me?


MR. HOAKEN:  But not storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, because storage is only required if you have a varying obligation to bring gas into the franchise.  So, in other words, if your obligation requires you to bring an amount of gas equal to what your customer is consuming, then obviously you would require storage.  


But if you're bringing the same amount of gas every day of the year, then you would not require storage in order to deliver around that obligation.


MR. HOAKEN:  But you would agree that another way to address the security of supply to consumers would be to give all market participants access to all utility assets, including storage, because doing so would permit marketers -- or at least would require marketers to balance to a temperature-sensitive load, and that would enhance the security of supply, wouldn't it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we'd really need to look at this in two pieces.  Certainly security of supply is around ensuring that there's enough supply to meet demand.  Currently, it's the role of the system operator or Enbridge Gas Distribution to make sure that all variations in demand above the average are met through the use of storage and other transport and peaking supplies.


So in a different model, where all customers are required to meet their daily loads as opposed to the average, in that model it would make sense to provide for an allocation of all assets.  


The model as it exists today would not require us to review those categories of assets.  We would only be looking at the transport assets required to bring the same amount of gas every day of the year.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And that's helpful, but I'm not sure it answers my question.

You'll agree with me that giving market participants access to assets, including storage, would enhance security of supply?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it would depend on how it's being used.  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers.]

MS. GIRIDHAR:  To ensure security of supply, there are two things that need to happen.  First, Enbridge would continue to have the role of designing to a particular design-day criteria and ensuring that it acquires all the assets required to do so.

And yes, if we had a model whereby each direct-purchase participant was required to bring their own supply to meet the particular demand on the day, so to meet daily demand, in that situation the allocation of storage and associated transport, as well as the long-haul transport to bring daily supplies, could work -- could work to ensure security of supply.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you.


And what it would also do, I'm going to suggest to you, is give access to multiple bases; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't agree with that comment.  The access to multiple bases has to do with the portfolio of transportation assets that you hold.  It does not have -- the role of storage is purely the load balance variations in demand.

So I don't believe that allocating storage would necessarily result in access to multiple bases.

MR. HOAKEN:  It could, but it wouldn't necessarily; is that what you're saying?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that the two are related.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  Now, could I ask you to turn up -- actually, I'm not going to ask you to turn it up.  We had in our IRs, as had other parties, asked that Enbridge quantify the risk of a system failure.  Do you remember those IRs?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. HOAKEN:  And in response to IGUA's IR No. 12, I think what Enbridge said was that the risk was not zero.  So I'll just pause there and give you a moment to turn that up.

And so that's not a particularly quantitative analysis of the risk, you'll agree with me?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The intent of that statement was to say that the probability is positive, and to highlight one element of calculating the probability that Enbridge calculates, which is the design-day criteria, which is one in five, or a 20 percent probability.

The other aspect to it, of course, is understanding what is the likelihood of TransCanada cutting discretionary services, and I've already mentioned yesterday that Enbridge has no way of assessing that probability.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And so what I've learned from doing cases involving utilities is I've learned that utilities have very sophisticated techniques for modelling all sorts of scenarios, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We certainly have techniques for modelling our system and scenarios around how our distribution system would operate in a constrained situation.

MR. HOAKEN:  And so is what you're telling the Board that you are unable to assign any probability, or at least any percentage probability, to the risk, other than to accept that it exists?  You're unable to do that because you don't have access to the data that you need?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And so, then, what you've told us is that it's not zero, and that's simply another way of saying:  It's a risk that we think exists, but we can't tell you how likely it is.  Right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  So you've got no quantified risk.  I think we've already established perhaps in the cross-examination of others that there's been no evidence of any actual system failure in Ontario; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And there's also no evidence, I'm going to suggest to you, that any of the penalties that exist for non-delivery are ineffective in incenting appropriate behaviour on the part of direct shippers; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that we have been able to draw the conclusion that the penalties are effective or not effective.  They haven't really been stress-tested in the kind of scenarios that we are talking about, which is a very large degradation in the amount of firm transport to the franchise and a situation where most non-firm services are curtailed.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  So we haven't tested our penalties in that environment.

MR. HOAKEN:  Is that just another way of saying that direct shippers have met all of their obligations, so they haven't been penalized?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I wouldn't agree with that.  These penalties, there's failures that occur all the time.  And these penalties do apply.  So shortfalls, for whatever reason -- I won't get into what they may be, because I don't know, but supplies fail to come in, and we charge 150 percent to many customers every year.

MR. HOAKEN:  So when you say "stress-tested", though, what are you saying?  Are you saying that you have no way of knowing if the penalties are or are not incenting appropriate behaviour on the part of direct shippers?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The fact that we have realized these penalties over the years leads us to believe two things.  One is there may be circumstances outside a customer's control, such that they are not actually able to deliver the gas.  And in some instances it's also possible that the penalty itself is economically not stringent enough to force them to go out and conform and not incur the penalty.  So either of those scenarios is possible.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Those are theories, but as you say, you haven't been able to test or validate those theories; is that fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We are talking about a particular situation here, and not, you know, sort of -- failure to deliver could occur for any number of reasons, a lot of them particular to the circumstance of a particular customer.

We are talking about situations here which would be widespread because a large number of customers have entered into the exact same kind of arrangement that fails.  And we've not had that situation, but we are concerned that we could, based on what we see, in terms of what's underlying the arrangements to bring gas into the franchise.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as you told Mr. Vegh yesterday, included among the penalties is the right to terminate a gas agreement; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I would -- depending -- if it was a continued failure, Enbridge would provide notice to a customer and ask that they cure the failure, and if they did not do so, we would look to terminate the pool or the contract.

MR. HOAKEN:  And has the contractual right to do that; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And has never exercised that contractual right; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  We've exercised the right.

MR. HOAKEN:  You terminated a gas agreement in circumstances other than bankruptcy?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And what were the circumstances?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I'm not sure what -- the customers had a new contract renewal, and they failed to deliver gas.  I don't know the reason -- all the reasons behind it.  And we sent notice immediately, and they continued the failure, so we terminated the agreements.

MR. HOAKEN:  Now, if you could turn -- if you could turn to Direct Energy's prefiled evidence, to page 7, and there's -- or, sorry, page 6, Ms. Giridhar.  There's a chart there.  And am I correct that you were the author of the presentation that this slide is taken from?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I was.  And actually, there was something I wanted to correct.  I believe the reference is incorrect.  This was actually a presentation made at an NEB futures workshop in Ottawa.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  When was that, do you know?  Was it in around the same time frame?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it was January 22nd, 2008, from memory.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Which –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And you've got it as a presentation to APPrO, so the party is wrong, but the date's -–

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  So the date's fine?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  The venue is wrong?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And here, what you say at the bottom of the slide, you say:

"Growth in traditional sectors is limited by conservation, warming trends, and demand destruction in industrial markets."

Do you see that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.

MR. HOAKEN:  And that statement was true when you made it, I take it?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and this was really in reference to annual demand.  It was not in reference to peak-day demand.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We don't see the same correlation with respect to peak-day demand.

MR. HOAKEN:  And since you made this presentation in January of 2008, there's been the onset of what we're now generically referring to as the "global financial crisis".  There's been a downturn in the economy; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so I'm going to suggest to you that if there was a deterioration or downturn in industrial demand as of January 2008, that is a trend that has continued from that point forward to today; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And if that trend does continue, you'll agree with me that that would further reduce the risk of a system failure or shortfall; correct?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So a couple of points here.  Demand destruction in industrial markets would not necessarily reduce concerns, because, again, if the industrial load had firm commitments to the franchise that in fact needed to be transferred to other segments of the market, that would address the system reliability concern.  


But again, the issue we're talking about is that if parties are simply not reserving space on the pipe and that's not assured on peak day, the same reliability concern exists.


In addition, because our load is very weather-dependent -- more than 90 percent of our customers are heat-sensitive -- we have much greater variations that are demand-related than economic activity-related.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  But I think maybe we're speaking at cross-purposes here, because I'm simply suggesting to you that if there's demand destruction in the industrial sector, the total load being delivered is reduced.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, could I ask you to turn to the transcript from the Technical Conference on the 22nd of April, Ms. Giridhar?  And it's page 104.  


And what I take from this is that Enbridge does not seek or require approval from the OEB for what percentage of capacity it takes on pipelines; correct?  It seeks approval for the costs, but where it then goes and makes its arrangement for transportation, that's its business?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, with the qualifier that Enbridge would seek pre-approval in the event that it was seeking a long-term contract for transport.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But as you say at the bottom of page 104, you say you're not required to come forward and seek approval of the individual components in your plan; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And you'll agree with me that Enbridge has an obligation to optimize its portfolio of transportation, both operationally and economically?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  We have certain commitments of optimization revenue to our ratepayers and we are required to optimize our portfolio.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  So let's now switch our focus to the transportation arrangements of direct shippers.


What I had understood in reading the Technical Conference transcripts is that Enbridge's position is that the proposal it has before the Board does not amount to a dictate in the transportation arrangements for direct shippers.  Is that a correct summary of Enbridge's position?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it is.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But then as I read on in the transcripts, I saw what I thought was a contradiction of that.  If you look at page 174 of the transcript, if you start at line 19 of page 174, you say:

"So the only requirement is that you have firm transport into the franchise.  We have not specified what the receipt point should be."


So that's what you and I were just discussing; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And then if you turn over the page, this is a series of questions Mr. Mondrow was asking you, and then I think if you go over to page 176, at line 8, Mr. Mondrow says:

"So really, they only have one option --"


He's talking, I believe, of direct shippers:

"-- they only have one option under your proposal.  The length of pipe they contract firm perhaps you're not dictating, but, really, there's not a lot of optionality around the requirement, is there?"


And as I read your answer, you're agreeing with that, and I take it you're agreeing that in order to comply with the FT requirement that Enbridge is seeking to impose, direct shippers will have to go to the TCPL main line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is certainly true in the short term, because there is no capacity on any of the other pipes.  So to address our system reliability concerns, the requirement to hold firm transport would have to be done on TransCanada's main line -- on TransCanada's main line on long haul.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And you made that sound like a temporary requirement, but there's no proposal on the table right now for further capacity.  So I'm simply suggesting for the foreseeable future, the impact of your proposal, if accepted by this Board, will be that direct shippers will be forced onto the TCPL main line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that there are several requests for additional short-haul capacity that have been made to TransCanada.  And at some point, then, I'm presuming that they would have to consider the economics of building.


So certainly the dynamics of the gas industry is such that new pipelines are constantly being contemplated, and some of them get built if it's economic to do so and if there are commitments to do so.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But for the foreseeable future, until there's a firm proposal and new capacity in place, the impact of your proposal is that direct shippers will have to go to the TCPL main line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  And certainly the compensation to direct shippers today is on the presumption that they go out and contract for TCPL long-haul capacity, because that is recovered in rates from our customers and remitted back to the agents.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, if you could look at Enbridge's response to an undertaking -- it's TCU3.3 from the Technical Conference, and --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?


MR. HOAKEN:  Sure.  It's TCU3.3.  It was an undertaking response from the Technical Conference.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  From Enbridge?


MR. HOAKEN:  I believe so, yes.  It is -- I've got it as Exhibit TCU3.3, page 101 (sic).  And this was a request to ask -- or, excuse me, a request for you to furnish -- 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  -- the blended cost of your transportation portfolio?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Do you have that in front of you now?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.


MR. HOAKEN:  And as I read that, you said it was 4.2552 cents?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And I'm told by people much smarter than me that that translates to $1.12, actually --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  -- $1.1289 cents, is that --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  -- accurate?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Per gJ?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And it's my understanding -- can you confirm that the weighted average cost of your transportation includes the amount paid to direct shippers for Ontario T-customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  And that amount is at present equivalent to approximately $1.19 a gJ?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so if you were to take that $1.19 out of your weighted average cost, your weighted average cost would then be somewhat lower --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  -- than the $1.12?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And you made the suggestion in your evidence in the last two days on a number of occasions -- I've lost track now of how many -- that all customers, including direct-purchase customers, are paying for firm transport and, therefore, they should get it; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And just I -- in the deck that we looked at yesterday that you provided in response to Shell Interrogatory No. 5, I don't see that that rationale was included in the presentation that you made to the EMT on September 15th.


Can you just help us understand why that didn't make it into the presentation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I -- certainly it's well understood within the company that that's the basis on which rates are set -- approved.  And everybody there would have been familiar that that is the case.  I did not particularly think to include it at that time for the internal audience.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  But can you confirm for me that the reason that you can suggest that all customers are paying the same amount is because of limitations in the Enbridge billing system?  So in other words, the billing system as currently configured does not permit you to break out the transportation charge for direct-purchase customers; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And you're also aware, I take it, that in the Technical Conference on the 22nd of April, TCPL has indicated that the toll estimate on the TCPL main line for next year is going to be $1.44 a gJ: correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And you'll agree with me that that $1.44 a gJ is significantly higher than your weighted average cost currently?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah, it will also have an impact on the weighted average cost, because we have TransCanada long-haul as well in our mix.

MR. HOAKEN:  I accept that.  But also what will have a downward effect on your weighted average cost, as we've already discussed, is if you are no longer responsible for billing, or at least charging, the transportation for direct-purchase customers?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  That will bring your average weighted cost down?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And as I understand it, Enbridge is introducing a new billing system.  I'm told that it was supposed to be April, and then June, and it's now looking more likely for September; is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  But in any case, when that billing system is implemented, as I understand it, then you will be able to break out the transportation charge for direct-purchase customers?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  And so at that point, direct-purchase customers will be billed a charge that is reflective of the actual transportation portfolio being utilized to transport their gas?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  So to the extent that you can make the claim that all customers are paying for firm so they should get firm, that's no longer the case when the change to the billing system is implemented; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  The change to the billing system will allow unbundling of the transportation charge, and that's certainly a relevant issue.


The point I was trying to make is from the perspective of what's in place today, the cost of TransCanada long-haul is incorporated into the transportation charge as approved.  And from a system reliability perspective, what I wanted to highlight was the fact that if we were to continue with the arrangement we have in place today, well, end-use customers are already paying for that cost.

If we go ahead -- you know, when we go ahead with the new CIS implementation, if you were to unbundle the transportation charge, certainly there could be a variance in the transportation charge between what we show on the line for system-gas customers and what direct-purchase customers would see for their transportation arrangements.


MR. HOAKEN:  Exactly.  And that's my point –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  -- is that if your proposal is accepted, and direct shippers have to use the TCPL main line with a toll expected next year of $1.44, that could be a significant differential in the transportation charge between direct-purchase customers and system-supply customers.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I could undertake to calculate what that difference would be and provide it.

MR. HOAKEN:  Well, that's not really responsive to my question.

MR. CASS:  Oh, excuse me, though, Mr. -- through you, Madam Chair.

It was responsive, Mr. Hoaken, because you asked her whether it was significant, and she's indicating -- I don't think she can answer whether it's significant if she can't calculate it.


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, that wasn't her answer.  That may have been a better answer.

MR. CASS:  That was her answer.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, I'd like to hear more of the line of questioning.  Then we'll decide on the undertaking.  We may indeed want it.  Let it go for a moment.

MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, thank you.  I think I can resolve it without an undertaking -- is that -- let's leave the word "significant" out of it.  I think you've agreed with me that the transportation charge for direct-purchase customers is going to be higher than the transportation charge for system-supply customers?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  And the current information that we have is your weighted average cost of $1.19, which you rightly point out is going to go up somewhat -- or, sorry, $1.12, which is going to go up somewhat because of the increase in TCPL, but is also going to go down because you're no longer billing for direct purchase; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And on the other hand, we've got direct shippers who are going to have to, if your proposal is accepted, pay the $1.44 on the TCPL?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. HOAKEN:  And you'll agree with me that that would be a significant disincentive to customers to sign up with a direct-purchase supplier if they're going to have to pay a higher transportation cost?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, again, the use of the word "significant" -- my point is that I'm happy to provide a calculation of what that difference is.  Ultimately what we've done here is identify a system-reliability issue, and we've proposed a solution that we believe can work.


And in the longer-term, we've also talked about other solutions such as vertical slice, whereby everybody could be held holding the exact same slice of the portfolio that Enbridge does hold, in effect, which -- it would be sort of an operationalized version of the cost allocation we have today, because the system average cost today presumes a certain amount of TransCanada firm long haul and a certain amount of the other sources, Alliance, Vector, and the short hauls.  And so I just wanted to raise that as a point.

There will certainly be a difference in the two transportation charges, absent nothing else, and if unbundling of the transportation charge goes ahead when CIS is implemented.

MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And my point, simply, my question, actually, was:  Given that difference and given that the amount charged to direct-purchase customers is going to be more, that that will make customers less likely to want to contract with a marketer; does that seem reasonable to you?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MacPHERSON:  Our position would be that the value proposition of gas marketers' contracts with customers would be, for one, fixing the price of the contract and the price stability over time, and that that would -- they weigh that gain, knowing their price in the long run, and a small change or difference in transportation price would not likely figure in the decision.

MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  I got in trouble for inserting the word "significant", but you've now inserted the word "small".

[Laughter.]

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So I'm going to wade in here.  Let me wade in.  And first I have a question -- before we address this "significant" and "small" -- of whether an undertaking would help us establish that.

The question I have is:  If the Board were not to approve Enbridge's proposal, and the direct-purchasers continued to purchase under similar arrangements that they are now, and the unbundling in the CIS system we were -- that you were able to and did provide a line that established what the direct purchasers were paying for transportation, would that show a number lower than they're now paying?

MR. MacPHERSON:  The price would be at the discretion of the marketer.  If the marketer has a delivery point for those customers in Ontario, they have full discretion to charge the customer whatever price they want.  It's not in control of Enbridge any more.

MS. NOWINA:  I understand that.  But is there an assumption that -- and maybe I should ask another panel when they come up, but would there be an assumption that they would be paying less under the kinds of contracts they have now?  I mean the firm -- it could be more -- it couldn't be more, yes.  Right, Mr. Sommerville.  So they would be likely paying less.  So that line would be –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  With due respect, we would be unable to really answer that question.  It might be better addressed...

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will address it there.

I think the undertaking would be helpful.  Let's get the undertaking now.  We might ask for the other side of the undertaking with another witness panel.

MR. HOAKEN:  I understand.  Thank you.

MR. SCHUCH:  Let's assign an undertaking number to that.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. SCHUCH:  It would be HDU2.1.  And perhaps someone can state for the record –-

MS. NOWINA:  Is your mic on, Mr. Schuch?

MR. SCHUCH:  Perhaps someone could state for the record what that undertaking would be.

MR. HOAKEN:  I don't think that's me, because I didn't ask for it.

MR. FORSTER:  I can give it a shot, if you would like.

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  Thank you.

MR. FORSTER:  I believe that the undertaking is to understand what the weighted average cost of Enbridge's transportation portfolio would be without paying the transportation credit to direct shippers, and compare that against the $1.44 gigaJoule that is estimated by TCPL to be the toll charge for next year.


Is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. HDU2.1:  Provide explanation of what the weighted average cost of Enbridge's transportation portfolio would be without paying the transportation credit to direct shippers; compare that against the $1.44 gigaJoule estimated by TCPL to be the toll charge for next year.


MR. HOAKEN:  I am close to being finished, but probably another 10 minutes, so I'm beyond my estimate.  I appreciate that.  I apologize for that.  I'm in the Board's hands as to whether we take the break at this point.


MS. NOWINA:  I think if the witness panel could hang on for another 10 minutes, we'll do that and complete you, and then have a late break and a late lunch.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just one point I want to come back to that you and Mr. Warren discussed -- it seems like a long time ago, but it was only yesterday morning, Ms. Giridhar -- and that was the impact on marketers if your proposal is accepted.  And I think you had a discussion with him about the fact that the marketers would have to unwind certain hedges that had been placed; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was the question posed to me, yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yeah.  And I had understood you to say that you thought that that was, yes, something that could happen or would happen?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  We were not aware that there were hedges to the CDA, but if in fact that were the case, then I'm presuming they would have to unwind those hedges.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as I understood you yesterday, maybe with Mr. Vegh, you said part of the reason you weren't aware there were hedges -- and I take it you don't dispute the fact that there are hedges; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have no way of disputing the fact, because I don't know the arrangements that are in place.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  And as I understand you -- and tell me if I got this wrong -- but you had assumed that there were not or would not be hedges because it was an Alberta price?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  What the customer sees is an Alberta price being hedged.  So I presume that the hedge would be an Alberta price.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  But if the gas is being procured elsewhere, then it's a price other than an Alberta price that would be hedged; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. HOAKEN:  Now, if the entire market -- so let's assume that Enbridge is successful in this proceeding and the Board accepts its proposal.  The entire direct-purchase market would then have to unwind its hedges at or around the same time, the 1st of November, for gas in the CDA; correct?  


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Assuming that all of the supplies hedged to a CDA price, which I don't know to be the fact.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  But let's, for the purpose of my next question, take that assumption to be correct.


And so if that were the case, you'll agree with me, then, that that would create a market with multiple sellers and few buyers, right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The requirement applies to the small-volume customers, not the large-volume segment.  So I presume that there will still be customers in the CDA that might be wishing to get a hedged delivered price in the CDA.


So I don't know that I can draw the conclusion that there would be few buyers, because the requirement does not apply to the entire direct-purchase market.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Okay, let me leave that point.  Perhaps that can be dealt with through another panel.


Let me then just ask you to look at the transcripts from the April 22nd Technical Conference again, and it's page 200 that I wanted to start with.  And let me -- just in the interests of economizing on time, let me just ask you if I have understood this correctly, and if you tell me I haven't, then maybe we can look at some of the specific passages.


But as I understand it, what Enbridge is saying is that those customers who are unable -- I should stop and say this is premised upon the Board accepting Enbridge's proposal; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And so what Enbridge is saying is that those customers who are unable to demonstrate firm transport by November 1, 2009 would be moved to Western T-service; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And as I understand it, though, Enbridge has not contracted any capacity for such an outcome, and if that happened, it would have to go out and contract the capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. HOAKEN:  And at this point, we don't know if that capacity is or would be available; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is a reasonable presumption that FT capacity would be available to the franchise.


MR. HOAKEN:  I'm sorry --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So the basis of that is the assumption that FT capacity would be available to the franchise.


MR. HOAKEN:  Okay.  And what specifically have you done -- as part of your planning for this case and your submission -- what have you done to test or validate or verify that assumption?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  My understanding is that there is an excess of 1 Bcf of FT that's currently available, not just to the CDA, but to points downstream of us, and we would -- worst-case scenario would be that nobody would demonstrate firm transport, and we would have to procure 200,000 gJs of that number.


MR. HOAKEN:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  Given the time, I'm considering our breaks today.  So let me put a proposition to you that might accommodate the early lunchers and the late lunchers.  I propose we take a half-hour break now and resume at 11:30, and then take another half-hour break at 1:00 o'clock for the late lunchers.  Would that work for everyone, or did anyone have anything significant they needed to do during a longer lunch period?

All right, we'll return at 11:30.


--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:35 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

     Did the intervenors decide who's going to go next?

     MR. MONDROW:  I think, Madam Chair, that honour falls 

to me.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MONDROW:

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, panel.  Previous cross-examiners have covered a lot of the material that I was going to cover, so I'm going to try to follow all my arrows and markups on my script, and I'd appreciate your patience in that respect.  I'll try to be briefer than I otherwise would have been.  


And you may have noticed that I've been coughing a little bit.  I want to put on the record that I did go to the doctor last week.  I do not have swine flu.  And in fact, I feel much better today, but the cough lags, so if I have to put a lozenge in my mouth, Madam Chair, I beg your forgiveness for that.  It will make everyone's life a lot easier, I promise you.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. MONDROW:  But I'll proceed.

Panel, I want to put some propositions to you and get your reactions to those propositions to kind of get some context for some of the topics I want to talk to you about.

     And I think you would agree with me that TCPL's transportation system, gas transportation system, has been meeting the Enbridge franchise-area delivery requirements reliably for many years.  Do you accept that proposition?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  And there's no less TCPL transportation capacity now than there was 10 years ago, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I understand that the removal of some of the keystone facilities have impacted the transportation capacity in 2009.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  But barring that --

     MR. MONDROW:  And prior to the removal of those facilities, there was a new pipeline that came into service, which follows a similar route from western Canada to eastern Canada, and that's the Alliance/Vector system, which came into service, my notes tell me, on December 7th, 2000.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The same supply basin, essentially, but a different route.

     MR. MONDROW:  A different route.  Right.  And we'll talk about that in a minute.

     So it seems to me, observing the record in this proceeding and the discussions, that what we've seen is not a contraction of transportation capacity, but a shifting of contracting on that capacity between long-term firm contracts and -- on the one hand, towards a short-term firm and non-firm contracting arrangements on the other hand.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  If I could ask you to turn up a response to an IGUA interrogatory.  So that would be Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 6, and in that interrogatory, we asked a question about the main drivers for the recent declines in firm transportation on TCPL's main line.


And Part A of the response, as I understand it, basically says that EGD is presuming that the decline in firm transportation reflects a lower cost from alternative arrangements for shippers on TCPL's main line.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  And those alternative arrangements, I would suggest, are a function of the development of a competitive Ontario landed gas supply market.  Do you agree with that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that?

     MR. MONDROW:  I'd suggest that those alternative arrangements that your response spoke of are a function or are reflective of the development of an Ontario landed gas competitive supply market.  That is, the development of a competitive gas market has allowed for the development of alternative arrangements to the historical firm transportation contract.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was going to suggest that it's probably resulted in a competitive landed gas market, as opposed to being the reason.  I'm presuming that the alternative arrangements allowed for transactions to be transacted at the CDA.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so it seems to me that the debate that we're having today and yesterday about your proposal is really a debate about the confidence in the market to respond and provide delivered supply to Ontario on the one hand versus the utility's system-operation obligations on the other hand, and the natural tension between those two.  Would you accept that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And I apologize if I'm repeating myself from yesterday, but I would accept that there's a natural tension, in the sense that there is a party that -- there's somebody who needs to step back and understand what is underpinning these arrangements, and that leads to a look at the amount of firm transport that's underpinning these arrangements and a question around:  Has there been too much of a reduction in that category?

MR. MONDROW:  And the debate, I think it's fair to characterize it, that you've been having with other cross-examiners is whether the market has responded adequately and has engendered enough confidence to leave the movement of gas to Ontario to the market.  Or does the utility have to intervene to ensure reliability of supply?  That's really the tension that we've been talking about.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and it's in the context of where Enbridge Gas Distribution is located relative to, you know, what is true market liquidity and true supply diversity.  So our view is certainly Dawn has developed as a very liquid market, because it has lot of interconnections with pipe, it's got storage, and it is not solely reliant on the functioning of a single pipeline or a single asset to ensure adequacy of supply.

     The issue for Enbridge Gas Distribution is that based on the physical connectivity of our system, we're entirely reliant on two pieces of pipe, both Union and TransCanada's main line system, and to the extent that these alternative arrangements don't reserve space on TransCanada's system and are subject -- and some of these arrangements are subject to less than firm service priority, the concern is that we would not be able to have the gas we need to meet peak-day requirements.


And again, given the fact -- and I apologize if I'm repeating again -- but the issue for a gas distribution system is that an outage, even if it were to occur for a period of hours or a day, would have consequences that lead to disruption over a significant period of time.  So --

     MR. MONDROW:  But Ms. Giridhar, you've agreed with previous cross-examiners that to date, the system -- and I've referred to that in part as a market -- has responded, and Ontario has not suffered the loss of system reliability that you're concerned about.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And the tension is about whether that risk has manifested itself at this point to the extent that in the future, this Board should not rely on the market to meet the reliability requirements but should mandate the utility to intervene in that system and add some security, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so to understand that market, and in particular, the market as it affects transportation capacity, I just want to drill down for a minute into the drivers, or some of the other drivers not mentioned in your interrogatory response, for the increasingly uncontracted capacity on TCPL's main line.


I think you've agreed already that TCPL's main line has less and less capacity, subject to firm contracting arrangements, over the last several years.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  That is correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And that trend seems to be continuing.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And one of the drivers for that, I would suggest, is the development of competing pipelines, primarily the Alliance/Vector route that we talked about a minute ago.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably, it's all of the changes that have happened in the natural gas industry, including additional pipelines of the development of other basins.

     MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But you agreed -- you indicated a minute ago that the Alliance pipeline originates from the same supply basin and takes a slightly different route, but comes east across the continent, which is the same route that -- the same basin and the same route that the TCPL main line takes, right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  There's also other systems, such as Northern Border, that follows --

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- the same route.

     MR. MONDROW:  And another factor that has been cited, I think, historically by TCPL for the declining amount of firm contracts on its -- long-term firm contracts on its system is the declining production in the western Canadian sedimentary basin, conventionally referred to as a declining basin.  I think Mr. Hoaken used that term a few minutes ago.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's my understanding that TransCanada's view is that it does expect to see declines in the long-term, and there have certainly been some declines, but perhaps moderate declines to date, and there's certainly some outlook for additional share supply to feed the system.

     MR. MONDROW:  All right.  And you spoke with Mr. Hoaken about demand destruction in eastern Canada in particular, and I think you agreed that that demand destruction is not likely to reverse itself this winter.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is a fair comment.  I just would like to point out that, relative to two years ago even, there's certainly gas-fired generation that has taken up perhaps a multiple of some of the declines you've seen.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  The one exception to the otherwise observed declining load in the east is the coming into service of gas-fired generation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  And it seems to me, in fairness, just to complete the picture, there is another offsetting factor in respect of the TCPL contract capacity, and until recently, the increasing demand for gas in western Canada, in particular in Alberta, has meant that less of the WCSB gas has moved out of the province and leaving that pipe emptier than it otherwise might have been; correct?


MS. GHIRIDAR:  The expectation is certainly there that the growth of oil sands in the future would reduce exports on -- exports out of the Alberta basin.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And it seems to me there are two implications of all of those factors in the discussion we've been having for the last few minutes for the issue before the Panel today.  And the first implication, which you've spoken about also with Mr. Hoaken a little bit, is that TCPL tolls for LTFT, or long-term firm transportation, are going up?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  And they have been going up for some time?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, not necessarily in a linear fashion.  They've gone up and down.


MR. MONDROW:  And they're expected to continue to go up in the future?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The long-term trend, certainly if exports decline out of Alberta and throughput on the main line reduce, then the expectation is that tolls would go up.


MR. MONDROW:  And the second implication of the picture that I've been outlining and you've been helping me with for our discussion is that some TCPL capacity -- sorry, the same TCPL capacity that's always been there is now being used more on a discretionary basis.  And in that term, I include, and I think you include, short-term transportation, rather than on a firm basis?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And presumably the shifting of the contracting of TCPL capacity from a firm basis to -- sorry, from a long-term firm basis to a discretionary basis, including short-term firm, reflects the confidence of shippers in the availability of capacity to move gas to where they've committed to deliver it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I just want to pick up on one point that you spoke about with Mr. Hoaken a few minutes ago.  I think as I -- my notes reflect that you said building new capacity from Dawn to the Enbridge franchise -- oh, sorry.  Sorry, I'll pick that point up somewhere else where it makes more sense. 


But the point I wanted to ask you about now is building new capacity from Dawn, which is what you talked with Mr. Hoaken about as a possibility, would in fact exacerbate the main line's problems of being unable to secure enough long-term firm transportation.  That is, if there's more capacity from Dawn to Enbridge, the main line will be even emptier than it is now, right?  


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably, if there's more pipeline capacity into the Enbridge franchise area from other routes, that could lead to further reduction in long-term long-haul capacity.


MR. MONDROW:  And it seems to me that the degree to which the TCPL main line is currently empty militates against the economics of building short haul -- more short haul from Dawn to, among other places, the Enbridge franchise?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I wouldn't be able to comment on TransCanada's willingness or not to build more facilities, so I wouldn't be able to respond to that.


MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  So in that context, you brought forward a proposal in this proceeding to require ABC T customers, Ontario T customers, to support their delivery commitments with demonstrated firm transportation contracts, but it's my understanding, as this record has developed, that it's the company's expectation that that requirement will be expanded to all Ontario T-service customers within the next few years; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm paraphrasing from my evidence, but I think what I've said is that we certainly see the need for firm transport to underpin the small-volume market.  We have identified that some segments of the large-volume market could presumably not have firm transport, but also be required to come off the system if their supply is disrupted.


But there may be other parts of the large-volume market that, while larger in size than small volume, are essentially like small volume, in that it's difficult to get the load off.


So what we have proposed is that we would analyze the large-volume market segment to a greater extent and come up with more tailored proposals for that group of customers, which could have two components.  One would be requiring the largest customers to get off if their supply doesn't arrive, and then looking at another group of customers that may need some kind of backstopping arrangement that we could provide, or that they be required to hold firm transport.  So all of these options are on the table.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you talk about all of these options, but as I understand your explanation, Ms. Giridhar, there are two options for the larger customers.  Either they have to get off when you tell them, or they have to support their delivery commitments with firm transportation; one of those two options?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I do believe we have a third option, which is that we could provide a backstopping arrangement, acquire additional capacity to do so, but that they would be charged the cost --


MR. MONDROW:  But that is not much different from them contracting.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- that they would be required to pay for the cost of the backstopping arrangement.


MR. MONDROW:  So either you contract for it or they contract for it, but I'd characterize that as option one.  Option two is if they're not willing to do that, then they have to be willing to get off the system when you tell them to?


MR. MacPHERSON:  That already exists.  We have that right to suspend service.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, yes.  And I understand your evidence to be that while contractually you have that right, practically your right is much more limited than it would appear if we just look at the contractual provisions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MR. MacPHERSON:  On a wide scale.  On an individual, I think it would be more possible to interrupt a customer.


MR. MONDROW:  You have about 3,000 large-volume ABC -- sorry, large-volume T-service customers.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah.  Certainly we would agree that the potential to get 3,000 customers off the system in the space of a few hours is -- is pretty low.


MR. MONDROW:  How low, in terms of number of customers, do you think?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would think ideally -- and perhaps Dr. Overcast could talk to this -- I would think you really don't want more than, say, your 50 largest customers to be both contractually and physically obliged to get off by way of metering that can shut them off by remote shutoff valves, or the ability to actually send a fitter over to that location.  But perhaps Dr. Overcast could talk about other jurisdictions.


MR. MONDROW:  Actually, I'm happy to hear from Dr. Overcast, but I'm more interested in your system.  And I think your evidence is 50 customers would be about the maximum that you could handle on a curtailment basis.  And if you don't mind, we'll get to Dr. Overcast in just a second.


But that means me that all the other customers in that group of 3,000 would be subject to the same sort of proposal that's now before the Board in respect of the small-volume customers, right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I hesitate to say yes.  I would say maybe, because I have not really launched into an investigation of what, for example, a shut-off valve or remote shut-off valve mechanism would be, what the costs would be, how many customers they could be installed on.


As well, I think I've pointed to the large degree of skewness in terms of the size on our system.  These are some of the things that we want to investigate in this -- in our upcoming summer, really, to examine more closely what is the size distribution of our large-volume customers, you know, what proportion of customers bring in what proportion of load, and essentially what technology could be implemented to make sure that these customers can be contractually obliged to get off the system if their supply doesn't show up.  


We certainly have that with the large power gens, for instance, that if their supply doesn't show up, we have the ability to shut them off if they're jeopardizing system reliability.


MR. MONDROW:  You're unlikely to do that in the middle of winter, right?  You're unlikely to shut them off in the middle of winter when they're generating at peak, also?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the power generators in our franchise do have firm transport to the franchise.


MR. MONDROW:  Right, but you just talked about cutting them off, so --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  But we do have the capability to cut them off, because ultimately, given the location of some of these customers, if it jeopardizes the safety and reliability of our system, we would need to have the ability to cut them off, and the contract does lay that out.


So it does give us the right to exercise our judgment if system reliability is at stake, that we would shut them off.


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  But given that you would be shutting them off likely at a peak demand time in the winter, and they're also supplying vital energy to consumers, I would imagine you would be somewhat reticent to cut them off in the first string?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would just like to point out, again, to the fact that, in our opinion -- and it is a fact that electricity systems are far easier to come back up than gas systems.  So if we were looking at the prospect of, for example, an outage to -- even 100,000 customers is a large number, but if you were looking at any significant outage that could take weeks to restore, I can assure you that the integrity of our distribution system would come first.


MR. MONDROW:  Let me just bring this back.  And Dr. Overcast, you may have something else, and I will give you that opportunity.


But, Ms. Giridhar, am I right to assume that of the 3,000 large-volume direct-purchase customers, a significant number of them are likely to be faced with a proposal much like this one within the next two years?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Again, I am not able to say yes or no, because we have outlined that we will do the analysis, and so you can appreciate it's difficult for me to confirm that at this point.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you think it's possible that most or all of those customers can be managed through remote disconnection?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We haven't done that analysis yet, as I mentioned.


MR. MONDROW:  Dr. Overcast, did you want to add something?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Well, yeah.  I think the essential point here is that when you're in gas control and you have to make this call, you have to call these customers or you have to call out a person to go out and turn the wrench.  You can't do that for 3,000 customers as a practical matter.  And so you have to look for other options, such as remote metering, and you have to weigh those options, the costs associated with that, compared to the smaller volumes of those 3,000 customers, the smallest ones.  It may not be economic to do that.

     And so the best option then is for them to have firm transportation.  And, I mean, as the person responsible for designing the gas system, what you want to do is you want to make sure that the sum of your capacity, available firm capacity, firm commitments, plus storage, plus delivery, plus peaking supplies and all of those things equals at least your expected design day, if not above that, to give yourself a margin for colder temperatures or other mechanical failures on the system.

     MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Dr. Overcast.  We've talked about that extensively for a couple days, but I was actually asking about 3,000 large-volume direct-purchase customers and whether they would be curtailed or required to provide firm upstream transportation.  So if we could focus on that line of inquiry.

     DR. OVERCAST:  And I specifically answered that.  I said I would expect for the smaller ones of those, you would be -- it would be the best option to require firm.

     MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And Ms. Giridhar, nowhere in your evidence today, 'til the last few minutes, am I aware of seeing any discussion of remote metering to use -- to curtail large-volume customers.  Did I miss that, or is it somewhere else on the record?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, it's not on the record, and again, the record wasn't intended to be exhaustive on proposals that we've not come forward with yet at this point.

     MR. MONDROW:  If you do come forward with such a proposal, it will require Board approval?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And would you agree with me that a concern among large-volume customers that they may well be faced with firm upstream transportation requirements in the next few years -- well, let me back up.

     Your original proposal in fact applied to all direct-purchase customers.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is right.

     MR. MONDROW:  And you modified that to shrink that customer base down to the -- what you characterize as the low-volume, generally, direct-purchase customers, or the ABC T customers.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so I'd suggest to you it's reasonable for the larger-volume customers to think that they may be next.  And in the event they do think that, there aren't going to be a lot of buyers for Mr. Hoaken's hedges in the next several months, are there?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah, I think it depends on the -- presumably a number of things.  I don't know how many hedges are out there.  I don't know the term of these hedges -- are most of them approaching expiry, or are most of them out for the next four or five years -- so it would be difficult for me to answer that question without knowing those things.

     MR. MONDROW:  So when you suggested to Mr. Hoaken that there are other customers in Ontario that might buy the hedges, that would be difficult for you to prognosticate on as well, right?  You just don't know.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I just don't know.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.


Now, you spoke with Mr. Vegh yesterday about a consultation -- I think you used that term -- on this proposal.  As I understand it, there was one meeting on this proposal and that was on January 30th, 2009; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the invitees to that meeting were actually intervenors in this application?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  As well as direct-purchase customers.  I -- is that true?  Was it just intervenors?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It was intervenors and gas vendors.

     MR. MONDROW:  And gas vendors.  Okay.


And the purpose of that meeting, as I understand it, was to discuss, to explain, really, this proposal in advance of the discovery, the formal discovery process; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  And seek input.

     MR. MONDROW:  And seek input.  So all that people had before attending that meeting was your initial evidence.  That's Exhibit C1, Tab 1, schedule 8, and it runs just over four pages.  That's all that was out there on this proposal when you went into that meeting; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And that evidence, you'll agree with me, I think left a lot of detail to be elaborated upon?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly after that stakeholder session, we came to the conclusion that more evidence was warranted on the issue.

     MR. MONDROW:  So going into that session there was a lot of detail unknown?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  There was a lot of detail that was absent from the evidence.

     MR. MONDROW:  And that's all that was available to people prior to your meeting, that evidence?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  The evidence was all that was available.

     MR. MONDROW:  And so I would have assumed that a lot of that meeting really entailed people asking questions to seek that elaboration on that relatively sparse evidence.  Is that not what happened?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we certainly -- I'm a little -- let me say that the intent was to hold the content of that discussion confidential, so I can only speak in very general terms.


MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  And let me clarify.  I wasn't at the meeting, so I really have no confidences to spill, but I appreciate your care on that.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  So yes, the discussion was intended to be two ways.  It was intended to lay out our concerns, so it started off with a short presentation, very similar to what we had made to our EMT a few months earlier, and to describe the proposal as contained in Exhibit C -- well, schedule 8, essentially.

     And then the intent was to seek feedback from all the people present.  And there were several on the phone as well.  I mean, it was a well-attended conference, or session, including people present as well as people on the phone.

     MR. MONDROW:  And I appreciate that.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  And --

     MR. MONDROW:  I don't intend to impugn your motives or your calling of that meeting or the way you handled the meeting, but it just seems to me that, given there was very little information available on your proposal before the meeting, the robustness of the feedback that you would have obtained would have been fairly limited.  Is that not a fair assumption?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Essentially, we were trying to understand how that provision would affect the marketplace, and we were looking for parties to tell us what it would mean for them.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.

And your response to some of that feedback then manifested itself in the form of Exhibit C, Tab 1, schedule 10, which is your supplementary evidence, which had a modified proposal and a lot more detail in it.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  And that proposal as it now stands is -- and just to set up the next line of questions, because I know you've covered this extensively -- is to require demonstration by ABC T-service customers of firm transportation for 90 percent of their daily delivery requirements or their mean daily volumes.  MDVs, I think, is the term that you used; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MONDROW:  And in aggregate, that's about 200,000 gigaJoules for the winter of 2009-2010.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And the requirement is that that firm transportation be long-term firm transportation.  That's the proposal before the Panel right now.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  That is the proposal.

     MR. MONDROW:  And there's been some discussion of short-term firm transportation, and I gather that when you made the proposal, to the extent you considered short-term firm transportation, you deemed it to be unacceptable in the longer run, because it's not an automatically renewable capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And so every year you get it only to the extent that it's available, and there aren't so many people that you somehow get de-rated in the amount that you can secure at the end of the day.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  There aren't...

     MR. MONDROW:  It was an inelegant way of putting it.  Because it's not renewable, you get it if you win the bid.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.

     MR. MONDROW:  But if there are a lot of bidders, you might not get it, or you might not get all of it.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Exactly.

     MR. MONDROW:  All of it that you want.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Exactly.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.


And I want to ask you:  Given the discussion in the last couple of days, given the clarity of the record on the significant amount of uncontracted -- that is, not long-term contracted -- TCPL capacity, would short-term firm transportation be an acceptable option from your perspective, at least for this winter, given that it's likely that the same capacity will be available next winter?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Our view is that short-term firm transportation could work for this winter.  Again, our main concerns are about the fact that as a long-term proposition, we don't believe it to be as good as FT, but if we were looking strictly at this winter or even a couple of winters, I do believe that STFT could work.

     MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And your proposal is that the firm transportation be demonstrated to you on November 1st?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. MONDROW:  And going -- leading up to November 1st, the STFT that's available for the upcoming winter is sold, as I understand the evidence, in a five-month block from November through March.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's the first offering that TransCanada has, and subsequently they offer it up in monthly blocks, to the extent that it's available.

     MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But if you want to demonstrate it in November, it's only that five-month block that would be available to provide you with that demonstration.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe that's true.  I think the monthly blocks may be available prior to November 1, but I could confirm that.  That's subject to check.

     MR. MONDROW:  Well, I think TCPL will be up.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sure.

     MR. MONDROW:  And I'm happy for you to confirm it, but I think we can ask them and perhaps have a discussion about that.  So thank you for that.

     Now, I was actually on their website yesterday during this proceeding, and I saw that updated yesterday, there was a listing of STFT capacity that had been contracted up to yesterday.

     So I assume that the amount of STFT contracted, and therefore the amount not yet contracted, is public information and is regularly updated and is fairly accessible for all, including your gas controllers; is that your understanding as well?  So you could watch the take-up of that over the course of any given winter if you determine that that was useful?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I need to check on whether the amount of STFT is identified by delivery area --


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- or is it just the overall contracted capacity, because we would really need to know what is contracted to the franchise.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And again, we would need to know that it reflects the needs of customers who cannot be cut off, essentially.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, maybe we can clarify that next week, as well.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is my understanding that the actual parties that have contracted for STFT is not visible on TransCanada's site, unlike FT, where you actually have an Index of Customers and the contract holder is identified.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And I think it's common understanding that contracting for STFT, which is just a number of months rather than the whole year, would be less expensive as an option to meet your concerns than contracting for long-term firm transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Presumably.


MR. MONDROW:  And --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I should also note that STFT, as I understand it, is a service with limited flexibility compared to FT.  So FT gives you other optimization capabilities that STFT does not.


So I'm presuming that there is some kind of trade-off in terms of customers for whom FT may be better than STFT.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So that the nature of the two services are different, I guess is all I'm trying to say.


MR. MONDROW:  That's fine.  Now, you spoke with Mr. Warren yesterday about a $21 million cost for the STFT option for this winter.  And I don't know if there is -- I don't think on the record -- there is a comparable cost for the long-term firm transportation option.  Do you have a figure for us for that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I could just clarify, the $21 million was specific to Enbridge Gas Distribution going out and acquiring STFT to the tune of 200,000 gJs for three months, from January to March, so that that's what that number represented.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The cost for TransCanada long haul would be -- well, a buck 19, times 365, times 200,000 gJs.


But presumably, that reflects a number for volumes that currently have a delivery obligation to the franchise.  So I do not see how all of that amount could be incremental to the arrangements that are in place, because presumably the arrangements in place today are not costless, which is why it's difficult to come up with what the impact of the requirement would be on shippers.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  But that caveat would apply to the $21 million number, as well, wouldn't it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, because the $21 million number was in response to a specific question as to what it would cost EGD to go out and get STFT.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So our STFT would be on top of all the arrangements in place to meet the requirements.


MR. MONDROW:  What would it cost EGD to go out and get LTFT for those -- well, for the year?  You have to buy it on an annual basis, so if you did that instead of STFT, what would the cost be?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, it would be the number -- 


MR. MONDROW:  It's the math you described, a buck 19, times 365, times 200 gJs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  200,000, sorry.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  200,000 gJs.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  87 million, my trusty computer tells me.

Mr. DeVellis, thank you.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Just to clarify, that is not our proposal -- 


MR. MONDROW:  I understand.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- that we would just have 200,000 gJs of FT that would be contracted for by EGD and left idle while -- just to meet a few days' requirements.  Certainly the proposal is that direct shippers would go out and have firm contracts for the delivery obligations that they have to meet every day, so -- whereas the STFT for three months was really a question around:  Well, what would it cost to address your system reliability concerns, and could you address them over a three-month period? 


So I think the comparison would not be valid, to look at $21 million and $87 million, and look at them as equivalent options.


MR. MONDROW:  I take your point.


The evidence is that the peak design day has never occurred in November?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  But it has occurred in the past in each of December, January, February, and March, I think you said yesterday?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And do you know what the probability is of the peak design day occurring in March?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't have it with me right here.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you have the number available, easily available?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'd have to check with my manager for long-term planning.


MR. MONDROW:  Could I have an undertaking for that, Madam Chair?


MS. NOWINA:  You can.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that would be undertaking HDU2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. HDU2.2:  To provide answer as to the probability of peak design day occurring in March.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


Could I ask you, panel, to turn up your maps that you handed out yesterday, which is Exhibit HD1.1, I believe.  There are three pages of that exhibit.


And you had some discussion with Mr. Hoaken earlier today about the -- what I would characterize, and I think I did characterize at the Technical Conference, as a lack of optionality for -- right now, for meeting the requirement that you propose to mandate on ABC T-service customers.  


And so I just want to understand in reference to slide 1, which is the map, the two routes of service into Enbridge's franchise area.


And as I understand it, there are only two basic routes of entry into the franchise area.  One is from western Canada east along TransCanada's main line, and the other is down the Alliance/Vector system to Dawn, and then short-haul transportation from Dawn into the Enbridge service area, and those are the two routes available; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Those are the paths that Enbridge Gas Distribution has contracted for.  Presumably, customers could get gas up to Dawn on any number of pipelines that feed into Dawn -- 


MR. MONDROW:  Right.


MR. CASS:  -- either on their own or in combination with other pipes.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But right now, as I understand it, the capacity to move gas from Dawn into your franchise area is completely contracted on a firm basis?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you hold some of that capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we do.


MR. MONDROW:  And you use that capacity, as I understand it, for balancing the system to move gas from storage and/or Dawn to the system?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, a portion of it matches our Vector contract.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So a portion of it moves gas from western Canada on the last leg of that Alliance/Vector route, and another portion of it -- "it" being the capacity that you've contracted for -- is for balancing, to move gas in and out of storage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't mean to be picky, but not all of it reflects gas out of western Canada, because the Alliance and the Vector contracts are not matched, so we procure additional gas from Chicago.  So certainly some of it is western Canada gas.  Some of it is gas that's picked up in Chicago.  It could essentially be from anywhere in the lower 48, including Alberta.


But all of that is matched in terms of take-away from Dawn into the franchise.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And there is other short haul that addresses the balancing needs.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So -- but all of that gas that you just described for us a minute ago is gas to meet your base level of demand.  That is, gas to meet your daily delivery requirements both for -- well, for system supply customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The portion of short haul that's matched to Vector is intended to meet the daily requirements of system-gas customers.  The other short haul, which would include STS on TransCanada's system, as well as our Union M12, is sized to do load balancing for the entire franchise, over and above the daily requirements of system-gas and direct-purchase customers.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And does any of that additional capacity that you use for load balancing provide any ability to make up any shortfall in the base daily deliveries in the event that those occur?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  First of all, it depends on the weather conditions, because those -- the balancing transport is sized to meet peak-day requirements.  So if you had a very cold day -- in fact, I think barring our peaking supplies and curtailment, if the cold day warranted that you used up all your M12 and STS, then we would have no ability.


In addition, I think I've also talked about our physical system limitations, in that we do need gas to come off TransCanada's system to meet the needs of the extremities of our system, for example, you know, Barrie, Pickering, Oshawa, the areas that were further away from Parkway.  And that pertains only for the CDA.  


In the EDA, the only pipeline that's available is TransCanada's system.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So the answer to your question -- can you use M12 because you have a shortfall in TCPL -- is that in a very limited fashion.


MR. MONDROW:  And certainly not on a peak day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly not on a peak day.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.


So the upshot of your proposal -- I think Mr. Hoaken covered this with you as well, so I won't go into it, but just to confirm -- the upshot of the proposal is that it effectively moves all EGD franchise-area gas supply for ABC T customers back to Empress.  That's the effect of your proposal, because that's the only line that they can contract on to meet your requirements?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And that's also the basis of the approved rates in place today, because of the manner in which the rate of average transportation cost is calculated, in that it's an average of our portfolio, as well as the assumption that all direct-purchase gas travels long-haul FT on TransCanada.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Let me just ask you about that, because you've mentioned these costs several times and I just want to make sure I understand it.  Others have talked to you about this.

    And I think the reason, as I understand it, Ms. Giridhar, the reason that you have mentioned repeatedly the costs that ABC T customers pay on the transportation line as it currently stands on your bill reflect firm transportation.


And you say that to illustrate, as I understand it, that under your proposal, their costs, those customers' costs, shouldn't go up, because they're already paying for that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And Mr. Hoaken established that the reason that you have those customers paying your cost and then you credit their marketers is because of the current limitations in your CIS system, and we talked about those limitations coming off with a new CIS system, now, it appears, sometime in September.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly, yes.  If the unbundling of the transportation line goes ahead, that would be the case.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so what currently happens is -- I think this is pretty obvious -- you charge all those customers your weighted average cost of transportation, but since you're not actually providing transportation for them, you credit transportation at TCPL's main-line toll cost back to their marketer.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you assume that the marketer's actual transportation costs, because your concern is they haven't contracted firm, are lower than the cost that their customers are paying, because you have to put your transportation costs on the customer's bill.  You assume there's a delta between what those marketers pay and what they receive from you as a credit.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I am presuming that the turnback of capacity was predicated on there being a delta.

MR. MONDROW:  And so you assume that the marketers receive that delta when you pay them the credit, that they've incurred less cost to transport the gas than you're crediting them for, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  You could certainly presume that.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you presume that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, our presumption is that this is the amount that's being returned.  And incidentally, I should state that it's not just the direct-purchase customers currently that pay for it, because it's a weighted average cost of transportation.  Everybody pays for it, system-gas as well as direct-purchase customers, under today's model.

The presumption that there is a delta, I can acknowledge that presumption.  As to whether it's retained or passed on is something that I would not be able to comment on.

MR. MONDROW:  And if it's a competitive retail gas market, you would think that that delta would be passed on through lower contract prices.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It could be, for sure.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can I take you to another interrogatory response to IGUA?  It's Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 1.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What's the schedule, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was that citation?

MR. MONDROW:  Exhibit I -- I'm sorry, sir.  Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 1.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Schedule?

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, that can't be right.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is no –-

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I'm sorry, I've given you the wrong reference.  I've marked down the wrong reference.

I will try to find this so I can give the correct citation, but this is an interrogatory in which we asked about the impact of your proposal on liquidity in the Ontario gas market, and your response was that you would not see any impact on liquidity.

Does that ring any bells?  I'm sorry, I have the wrong reference written down.  Here we go.  It's Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 21.  I apologize, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  21?

MR. MONDROW:  Schedule 21.  And we asked whether you agree that the proposed requirement would impair Ontario-delivered gas liquidity, and your answer in the first line is you don't agree that this requirement would impair Ontario-delivered gas liquidity.  And in the third sentence you explain why.

Well, first of all you say that the agents, those subject to this requirement, could still rely on bundled supply to Ontario by simply assigning to their suppliers the firm upstream transportation that you're requiring them to contract for.  Did I understand that –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  -- response correctly?  And those suppliers that you suggest this assignment be made to presumably already employ a variety of tools to meet their Ontario delivery commitments?  You would agree with that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree with that.

MR. MONDROW:  And that probably includes some capacity from Dawn, some STFT, diversions, interruptible transportation, and probably some financial instruments as well.  That's basically the tool box that would be available to those suppliers to optimize their commitments?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm presuming that financial tools in and of themself could not allow them to transport gas from A to B, that there would have to be –-

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, fair enough.  Fair enough.  Those financial instruments would keep them whole in respect of the need to adjust their delivery strategies, perhaps, but the other three aspects -- the capacity from Dawn, the STFT, and the reliance on less firm arrangements, diversions and IT -- would be tools that they would use to deliver gas to Ontario?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And they would presumably optimize those tools in order to meet their commitments at the lowest possible cost?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And your proposal would introduce a constraint on that optimization, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I guess the point that was being made in this response is that if the cost for firm transport is being recovered from the end-use customer, and that transport was then passed on either to the marketer or to their supplier, then that transport is available to meet the delivery commitments of the supplier, and it is also available to ensure that that transport is being utilized to the franchise on the day or days when it's required.

I definitely do not see that as preventing optimization of the portfolio.  I mean, for example, that's how Enbridge Gas Distribution optimizes its portfolio.  It ensures that the firm transport is used for the franchise when it's necessary, and it is optimized when it is not necessary; for example, you know, lower demand days.  So I don't necessarily see that as preventing optimization.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, those suppliers currently have an optimized portfolio without this requirement or this notion that they would take additional assignments of firm transportation capacity, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And it is our contention that to the extent that firm transport to the franchise is further eroded, that optimization has occurred at the cost of reliability of supplies to the franchise.

    MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I understand your contention.  But my proposition is that requiring -- or assuming that this additional firm transportation, which is not currently contracted, would be passed to these suppliers would constrain their optimization.  Their current optimization would have to be altered.  There's an additional constraint being introduced, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I guess I'm just questioning whether I would call it a constraint.  They would be receiving a service for which they receive full recovery of costs from the end-use customer, and --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you don't know –-

MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- and it's a service –-

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I can --


MR. MONDROW:  Who receives full recovery of costs?  Not the suppliers to the marketers.  You're talking about the marketers from their customers.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's to the marketers from the customers, and if it is assigned, then presumably the cost consequences could be passed on as well.  And ultimately, FT is a highly flexible service.  So I don't necessarily know that the holding of FT constrains optimization.  I'm inclined to think it's the opposite.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, to the extent that those suppliers of the marketers wanted FT, they'd already have it, and you're suggesting they'd take more of it than they already have, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Because the cost is already recovered -–

MR. MONDROW:  I understand your reasons, but that's what you're suggesting.  You're suggesting that those suppliers take more FT than they currently have in their optimized portfolios.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I am suggesting.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the costs that are being recovered are costs recovered, you say, by the marketers, right, not the suppliers?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you don't know what the contractual arrangements are between the marketers and the suppliers; correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have already told me a few minutes ago that to the extent we've got a competitive retail market, the delta between the costs recovered and the costs incurred to transport gas is presumably being returned to customers already, right?  You agreed with it?

MR. CASS:  That's not what she said.


MR. MONDROW:  Well, do you agree with that now, Ms. Giridhar?

MR. CASS:  What she said previously, Mr. Mondrow -- through you, Madam Chair -- is "it could be."  That is not what she said.


MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Cass, for that clarification.


Let me just ask you one question.  You were talking with Mr. Hoaken, Ms. Giridhar, about a vertical slice, and you said, as my notes reflect, that access to storage -- that is, at Dawn -- additional capacity to Dawn, would not provide access to other basins.  


I'm sorry, what you said is access to storage would not provide access to other basins necessarily.  I think that's what you said to Mr. Hoaken.  Do you recall that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Access to storage would not provide access to other basins?


MR. MONDROW:  Right.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think I might have said that the two are not linked.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Okay, fair enough.  But if the storage is at Dawn and there's additional access provided to Dawn, wouldn't that mean that that additional access would necessarily provide access to additional basins?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Access to transportation from the franchise to Dawn would definitely provide access to other basins.


MR. MONDROW:  You've made my job easier.  Thank you.  That's what I was trying to say.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, maybe I could just clarify.  I don't see -- and, again, I'm sorry if I'm repeating myself.  I think that linking storage to this issue is confusing.  The issue is around transportation access that's firm.  So certainly access to firm transport out of Dawn allows parties to access other pipelines that feed into Dawn, and potentially in the future there could be a lot more, if, you know, some of the predictions around shale gas do bear fruit.


So under the vertical-slice methodology, the proposal would be -- and Enbridge doesn't have a proposal at this point, but the concept behind it is that Enbridge would go out and procure enough capacity to meet the firm requirements of all customers, direct-purchase and system, and everybody receives a pro rata share of that mix.


So, in other words, everybody would receive a share of the long-haul TransCanada main line, as well as the short-haul paths.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  And that has nothing to do with storage.


MR. MONDROW:  And I think what Mr. Hoaken was suggesting to you is that in order -- in the longer term, to address your reliability concerns, providing additional transportation capacity from Dawn to the franchise area would provide better diversity of supply than requiring that capacity to be contracted from the franchise area back to Empress.


So in the longer term, if we're looking at Enbridge west versus Enbridge southwest to Dawn, the latter option would provide a greater diversity of supply?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would provide a greater diversity of supply and potentially a lesser diversity of transportation path, because on peak day today we already know that more than 60 percent of our peak day requirements actually traverse the Union system.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the rest of your requirements traverse the main line?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I just want to talk to you for a couple of minutes about turnback.  And to do that through your case manager, I ask that you have available some pages from your rate handbook.  That rate handbook is filed as Exhibit B, Tab 1, schedule 9.  And, unfortunately, the pages in that fairly large document are not numbered, but I'm looking at a page which is the rider A portion of that handbook, and it's two pages long.  


And I apologize, Madam Chair, but I can't tell you what page number it's at in the document, because those pages aren't numbered.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would be page 50 of the handbook.


MR. MONDROW:  It's handbook page 50?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  I'm not sure that's -- okay.  So if we -- I'm not sure if that's page 50 of the document, but it does say handbook page 50.  Maybe it is page 50 of the document.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  I don't have the whole document in front of me.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps, Mr. Mondrow, later you can provide us with a copy of it so we don't have to find it in the handbook?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, absolutely.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We know we have a copy, but just so that we're sure we've got the right document, the right page.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All roads leading back to Mr. Mondrow is the safest course.


MR. MONDROW:  I will certainly provide copies of those pages to the Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  And I'll do that right after the lunch break.


Enbridge Gas Distribution has facilitated TCPL turnback since 2005, I think was your evidence, Ms. Giridhar; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe it's since 2000.


MR. MONDROW:  2000, okay.  This year you suspended the availability of turnback, and you did so pending the outcome and on the basis of this proposal that's now before the Board?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry, if I could just correct myself?


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm told that turnback has been available since 1999.


MR. MONDROW:  Even earlier?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In very limited amounts, because most of our TransCanada contracts were long term, longer than one year, at the time.


MR. MONDROW:  It's become an established feature of the direct-purchase market in Ontario --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  -- in the last few years.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And this year, you have suspended it pending the outcome of this proposal?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And the availability of turnback is provided at pages -- I guess it's 50 and 51 of the rate handbook, which is rider A, the rider A portion of the rate handbook; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you suspended that service without Board approval and unilaterally; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe we require Board approval.  The terms and conditions outline the conditions under which we can suspend it.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And as I understand it, when you say "the terms and conditions outline the conditions under which" you can suspend it, you're referring to a clause that appears at provision number 2, which is on page 51 of the handbook, under the "TCPL FT Capacity Turnback" heading.


And the phrase -- well, I'll read the whole of provision number 2, since, with my apologies, the Panel doesn't have it in front of them.  Provision number 2 says:

"The company will accommodate all TCPL FT capacity turnback requests in a manner that minimizes stranded and other transitional costs.  The company is committed to maintaining the integrity of its distribution system and the sanctity of all contracts."


And I gather that it's the phrase "the company is committed to maintaining the integrity of its distribution system" that you say provides you with the authority to unilaterally suspend that service?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Is there any other provision in this rider or any other place in the handbook that gives you that authority, or is it just that clause?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, clause 5 also states that:

"The daily contractual right to receive natural gas would be subject to the delivery on a firm basis of the full mean daily volume into the company's Central Delivery Area and/or eastern delivery area."


And certainly through this proceeding we are concerned as to whether turnback is being replaced by arrangements that allow firm deliveries to be made.


MR. MONDROW:  I think earlier in this proceeding you very carefully differentiated, at the prompting of counsel, between firm delivery requirements and firm transportation requirements.  Those are two very different things, right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct, but --


MR. MONDROW:  They're not unrelated, but they're different.  They're not unrelated, but they're different?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  They're definitely related.  In our view, this proceeding is about drawing a link between having firm delivery commitments and being able to actually deliver on them.  It is our view that without firm transportation commitments, when you are solely reliant on a single pipe, the ability to maintain firm deliveries is compromised under certain circumstances.


MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Under certain circumstances.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  All your direct-purchase contracts require firm delivery already in their contractual terms?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  The same phrase that you use here when you talk about delivery?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But they don't require firm transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And that is the change we're proposing now.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And I assume that given your current concerns about system reliability, the suspension of turnback for the winter of 2009-2010 reflects what will likely be a permanent policy change if your proposal is approved?


MR. MacPHERSON:  We would disagree with that.  If this policy, as it was, were approved, we would continue to turn back capacity as it's available, and customers would have to underpin that capacity with a demonstration of firm transportation, just as it is proposed now.


MR. MONDROW:  New firm capacity?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Just as it is proposed now, if we received an allocation of turnback, we would have to demonstrate firm transportation if the Board were to approve our proposal.

MR. MONDROW:  So you're saying, Mr. MacPherson, that they could turn back firm transportation on TCPL, and then they could buy new firm transportation on TCPL to meet your requirement?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  But again, we are not dictating what that firm transportation should be.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, but there's no other place they can buy it now.  You've already agreed to that, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  For the next two years, that is the case, but I don't certainly see that as necessarily the case for all time to come.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So it doesn't make any sense to offer turnback of firm transportation capacity on TCPL, and then require the customer to go out and buy new firm transportation capacity on TCPL?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Well, there's other rights that are associated with having an assignment of capacity.  The rights belong to Enbridge when the capacity is in our name.  When the capacity is in the name of the customer, they have all the benefits of the FT, including diversion rights and RAM credits and other things which I'm not expert at.

MR. MONDROW:  So they turn back your capacity and buy their own capacity to take advantage of those additional rights?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to try something.  I'd like to try to understand something and clarify something for the record, and I'm hoping I'm going to be able to clarify it, but we'll see, with your assistance.


Could you go back to Exhibit HD1.1, please, and could you go to the third slide?  And if you could just leave this open for a minute, you talked earlier with Mr. Hoaken about curtailed delivery service over three days in January of 2009, Ms. Giridhar.  And that's discussed for the record at Exhibit I, Tab 9, schedule 24.

And you said that that was about 440 gigaJoules of delivery to the franchise area by customers that would otherwise -- that had been curtailed over three days, and so I'm assuming that's about 145 gigaJoules a day of deliveries under a constrained situation.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That sounds about right.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And if I look at the peaking and curtailment number on this slide 3 of Exhibit HD1.1, which is the 468,000 gigaJoules, I assume then that that 145,000 gigaJoules is part of the curtailment amount of this larger 468,000 number.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And if I understood your evidence -- and I know you've provided an undertaking to clarify some of these numbers -- out of the 468,000, about 250,000 gigaJoules is your peaking supply, and the other, the remainder, about 260,000 gigaJoules, I guess, would be the curtailment portion of this number.  Is that roughly -- it's roughly about half and half, give or take?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think peaking is about 260.

MR. MONDROW:  260?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I said 200 would be curtailed, or thereabouts.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Okay.  And your peaking supplies, those are supplies that you've contracted for delivery, but you have not contracted yourself firm transportation.  It's Ontario-delivered supply.  And that's, you say, about 200,000 gJs.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The peaking?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it's more like 260 or thereabouts.

MR. MONDROW:  260.  Okay.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I could confirm the numbers.  I didn't break it out for the purpose of this.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, I just want to talk about this day in January.  And as I add up these numbers, on this constrained transportation day, your peaking supply arrived.  So somehow 260,000 gigaJoules' worth of delivery space was found.

The customers that you curtailed managed to squeeze in another 145 gigaJoules of gas.  They had already been curtailed, so operationally you had the -- I guess you said it was 200,000 gigaJoules' worth of curtailment room.  And if I add up those numbers, very roughly, it shows me that you had over 600,000 gJs of space to work with on this transportation-constrained peak day.  Is that an accurate way of looking at what actually happened on that day, that that amount of space was, in the end, found?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That amount of space was, in the end, found by parties who were required to bring that in.

MR. MONDROW:  Found or available, if those customers that you had curtailed were actually physically shut off?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And I think I've made the point several times that it was not confirmed at the timely window when it should have been.  It was --


MR. MONDROW:  I understand.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  A lot of it was confirmed later.

MR. MONDROW:  But just to get a sense of the amount of space, that's a good sense of the amount of space that at the end of the day was available and actually brought gas into your system on a constrained transportation day.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and if it had been a design day, we would have needed another 400,000 gJs to find its way into the franchise, because it actually was about six degree days less than design day.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

Dr. Overcast, I wanted to ask you in closing just a couple of questions, if I may.

If you can -- maybe someone can turn up or you can turn up the response to IGUA Interrogatory 14.  So it's Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 14.  I got that right, hopefully.


And this was an interrogatory in which we asked for a copy of the terms of reference for the study that is provided by Enbridge in evidence.

    And there is a paraphrasing -- I shouldn't say a paraphrasing.  It looks like it's a quotation, perhaps, from your retainer agreement, which sets out the terms of reference.  It says:

"Preparation of a report providing summaries of the tariff provisions related to direct-purchase customers or the equivalent concept, providing open access retail service to end-use gas customers, and the requirements for upstream pipeline services that match the quality of service at retail.  The report should address specifically the use of non-firm service to deliver gas to the city gate for firm deliveries to residential and small general-service customers."

Is there anything else in respect of the scope of your work or terms of reference that's not reflected in this excerpt?

DR. OVERCAST:  In terms of the report, no.  There were

other -- there were other -- I mean, I was hired to help them and participate in this proceeding in other ways, and I've consulted with them on many of these issues.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  But -- okay.  Fair enough.


So we can take those terms of reference as a complete statement of the terms under which you were retained to provide the report that's now been filed in evidence, and to which you're here today to testify?

DR. OVERCAST:  Well, I'm here today to testify to matters related to these issues, based on my experience and what I've experienced in other jurisdictions.

MR. MONDROW:  This is a complete statement of the terms of reference for your written report?

DR. OVERCAST:  The written report.

MR. MONDROW:  Correct.  And I'm correct that you did not do any analysis of the transportation capacity or the services for Enbridge's service territory in preparing your report?

DR. OVERCAST:  No, this was to address other utilities.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And you didn't do any analysis of the load served by TransCanada's main line?

DR. OVERCAST:  No, I did not.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you didn't do any analysis of the various services offered by TransCanada or the extent to which they've been taken up by the market?

DR. OVERCAST:  No, I did not.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And for those utilities that you did review and you extracted in some cases tariff provisions for, am I correct in concluding that while you looked at the tariff, you didn't look into the circumstances or drivers underlying those tariff provisions?  You simply identified them; correct?

DR. OVERCAST:  Identified them, but in many cases they are companies that I'm familiar with, so I knew some of the circumstances surrounding those.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  If I look at Exhibit I, Tab 11, schedule 16, which is another interrogatory response, you said in response to our question that:

"No effort has been made to determine the reasons for each LDC's requirements."

Is that statement still true?

DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.  That's true.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Panel.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.


Board Staff gave me a schedule of how many minutes each party planned to cross-examine.  Pretty well everyone's gone well over their allocated number of minutes to date.  So before we break for lunch, I would like to determine who's next, and I'd like to get an updated view of how long it will take for your cross-examination.

So was there a plan about who would follow Mr. Mondrow?

MR. WOLNIK:  Madam Chair, APPrO can go any time, I guess.  We would like to finish today, though, if possible.  Our time is probably 10 minutes, plus or minus five.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, I can safely say I'll be well under my estimate.  Probably less than 15 minutes.  I'm happy to go next.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Anyone else eager to go after lunch?  Ms. Young?


MS. YOUNG:  All of my questions, actually, have been addressed, so I am now down to zero.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe I'm down there for 10 minutes.

MS. NOWINA:  Actually, you're down for zero minutes, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I?  I thought --


MS. NOWINA:  I'll put 10 down.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I thought Mr. Higgin had put us down for 10 minutes.  It's around that.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. KILLEEN:  Madam Chair, I still have about five to 10 minutes of clarification questions.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

And Mr. Brett?

MR. BRETT:  What am I on the list for, Madam Chair?


[Laughter.]


MS. NOWINA:  You're 60 to 90, Mr. Brett. 


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  That's been coming down fairly substantially over the course of the last day and a half.  I would think 30ish.


MS. NOWINA:  30ish?  In the normal process of things, we would normally have the people that are going to take longer go first, in case your questions could eliminate the questions of others.  So would it be appropriate for you to go ahead after the break?


MR. BRETT:  I'm totally in your hands on it.  If that's what you prefer, Madam Chair, that's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that, then?  We'll take a half-hour break and return at 1:15 with Mr. Brett.  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, also just to alert the Board, in terms of today's scheduling, there's been a lot of cross-examination.  I have been accumulating a number of re-examination questions.  


I'm going to try to pare them down as much as I can.  I know by the time we get to the end of the day on a Friday, the Board Panel is not going to want to sit any longer than necessary.  The witnesses are going to be tired.  But by virtue of having so much cross-examination, it becomes a necessity to have some re-examination.  


So I just wanted to be sure that you would take that into account for your thinking this afternoon and how we're going to complete this afternoon.


There will be some re-examination.  I'll try to make it as short as possible.


MS. NOWINA:  And that's fine, Mr. Cass, but I would say that the witnesses have been quite repetitive in their responses, and we're understanding their responses.  So I hope the re-examination won't spend a lot of time eliciting the same responses that we've heard a number of times.


MR. CASS:  It's not intended to, Madam Chair.  And if I might just address your comment about the witnesses being repetitive -- because I've heard counsel being extremely vigilant about not wanting to hear anything repeated -- I would say, quite safely, I believe, that every single counsel that has cross-examined on at least one occasion, and for most counsel on more than one occasion, has asked the same question:  Well, is it not true that you've not yet had a system outage?  


Madam Chair, the same questions get asked over and over.  So I understand the concern about the answers, but there has to be some discipline to the questions, as well, I would think.  I think that every counsel has asked that same question, and, in some situations, more than once that question has been asked by counsel.


MS. NOWINA:  I agree, Mr. Cass.  I just don't want you to ask them again.


[Laughter.]


MS. NOWINA:  We will now break until 20 minutes after.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:48 p.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 1:34 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Brett, you can go ahead.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:

MR. BRETT:  Panel, my name is David Brett.  I'm with the Gowlings law firm, Calgary office.  I am representing BP Canada Energy Company.

As was done by Mr. Mondrow, I note by way of apology at the outset that my cross has been covered in many respects by other counsel, and I'm doing a bit of a cut-and-paste job on the fly here.  And so as not to attract the attention, or indeed, the wrath of Mr. Cass, or more importantly, the Chair, I'm going to do my best not to repeat questions you have heard before.

     I wanted to start with a bit of a trip down history lane.


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mic on?


[Technical difficulties.]


MR. BRETT:  I indicated that I was going to take a brief trip down history lane, and I do so with a certain amount of trepidation, but you know, it is Friday afternoon.

     Panel -- and if you don't know some of this stuff, particularly the two Enbridge witnesses look fairly young compared to an old guy like me, so you may not know some of this, and if you don't, that's fine.  You can just tell me that.


Can you confirm that until the so-called onset of deregulation, October 1985, essentially the TransCanada was a merchant pipeline, and essentially Enbridge was a merchant LDC for almost all of the gas on its system?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe that was the case.

     MR. BRETT:  And that following the historic agreement on October 31st, 1985, over the course of time, customers, initially large ones only, and subsequently smaller ones, entered into direct-purchase arrangements?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And that over time, various transportation arrangements were in place, in some cases large direct-purchasers managing their own transportation or taking an assignment from Enbridge, in other cases Enbridge offering a Western T-service, in other cases assigning transportation to a customer; various arrangements were in place, yes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And starting in 2003 -- I might call that the modern era -- you indicated this morning, I think, that turnbacks started in 1999.  But really, in terms of significant volumes, it started in 2003, yes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And the reason for that is that as part of deregulation, the then -- as they were called -- CD contracts were renegotiated effective November 1, 1988 for a 15-year term; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I am not familiar with...

     MR. BRETT:  That's fair.  And I think you have confirmed already that it was not a requirement of the turnback facilitation that the direct-purchaser or the ABM line up replacement firm capacity, but Enbridge assumed that it would.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  And can I conclude from that then that if I fast-forward to today, with the current situation we're in with a number of direct-purchase arrangements not being underpinned by firm transport on TransCanada, that no one is doing anything wrong, no one is doing anything illegal, and no one is doing anything in breach of contract with EGD?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you just repeat the last piece of what you said?

     MR. BRETT:  That nobody is in breach of their contract with EGD by not having firm transport.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  I wanted to just return to something very briefly that you dealt with Mr. Hoaken on this morning.

If I could refer you to Mr. Vegh's exhibit book of excerpts and various things, and I'm going to ask you to look at page 45 and put a sticker or your finger there, and I'm also going to want you to turn up page 35.

     And when you were discussing page 45 with Mr. Hoaken this morning, he was having you focus on the graphic at the bottom of the page, the spreadsheet, in the long-term firm column, and was noting that, whereas in 2003-2004 the number was 52.7, it then went up and then came back down.


And you made the comment at the conclusion of your response, according to my notes, that starting in -- and I think you were focusing on '06-'07 -- there was a dramatic reduction in the level of long-term firm.  Do you recall that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Would it not be an equally valid approach to look at the difference between 2003 and 2004 and 2005 and say that, for those latter two years, there was a dramatic increase in the level of long-term firm?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And we know from looking at the schedule on page 35 that a number of parties that we would think of perhaps as large gas suppliers or marketers, such as BP and Nexen Marketing, entered into arrangements effective December 1st, 2004, running to either the end of February or the end of March 2006.  In other words, for a two-winter period, certain parties entered into substantial long-term firm arrangements?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And you speculated -- my word, not yours -- this morning on why they might have done that.  What we do know is that things were occurring in the market and in the environment, and in response to those, presumably, certain marketers went long on firm transportation.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  One last thing that is also in the way of a clarification.  It is a reference to the undertaking from the Technical Conference, TCU2.15.  I think this is the one that Mr. Hoaken was discussing with you this morning, or perhaps not.  I think I've got the right one.  The question sought that you would provide percentage of total volumes that come in on the TCPL main line?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  You have that?  And as I read up above Arabic 1, under the heading "TCPL long-haul" that shows system supply of 74,431, is that gigaJoules per day?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, could you just repeat that 

number?

     MR. BRETT:  74,431.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And do I understand that correctly, that with regard to Enbridge's obligation that day, that's the amount that came in on long-haul FT?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And does that amount equal the amount of FT under contract by Enbridge for its system supply?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the contract on TransCanada long-haul that we have meets the needs of our Western T arrangements, as well as system.  So we don't necessarily demarcate them, but we would have used all of that capacity, so it's --

     MR. BRETT:  So I would have to add up it with the Western T --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  -- and I would approximate, then, the total FT long-haul that Enbridge has?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Thank you.


I also wanted to seek clarification and confirmation about an interim versus a longer-term solution.  As I understand it, the proposal currently before the Board is for the ABC direct purchasers or their marketers to enter into -- totalling approximately 200,000 gigaJoules a day -- to enter into long-term FT arrangements with TransCanada.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  In an amount equal to the amount in the gas agreement you have with them.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  90 percent of their delivery obligations.

     MR. BRETT:  Fair enough.  90 percent of the mean daily volume.  Do you have, as part of your proposal, a sunset proposal of how long that should last?  Is it for a year?  Is it for two years?  Is it for a longer period?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We do not have a sunset proposal, but certainly we came to the conclusion that this is something that would have to be addressed potentially over a couple of proceedings, in terms of looking at all segments of the market.  So the proposal's absent in terms of quantifying an end date for this requirement.


MR. BRETT:  What I'm trying to ascertain, Ms. Giridhar, is whether or not in Enbridge's view, there is going to subsequently be another proceeding before this Board where the issue of how direct-purchase contracts should be handled for upstream transportation purposes becomes an issue.  


Do you think there's going to be another proceeding or is this it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, in our evidence, we certainly talked about other options that we considered and discarded because they would not address the system reliability concerns for the immediate short term, and vertical slice was one of those.


And we are certainly expecting that some parties might want us to go down that route.  Union Gas offers it, for instance, in Union South.


So you know, we did expect that this issue would come up in subsequent proceedings.


MR. BRETT:  Let me be a bit more generic, if I can use the term perhaps a bit ill advisedly.


You have concluded -- that is to say Enbridge has concluded -- that firm contracts between it and direct purchasers should be underpinned by firm long-term transportation on TransCanada; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that?


MR. BRETT:  You have concluded that firm contracts between Enbridge and direct purchasers should be underpinned by firm long-term contracts on TransCanada?  You didn't quite put it that way, but that's the practical effect of it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we concluded that in the immediate short term, for the next year or two until more capacity becomes available, that that is likely how our system reliability concerns have to be met.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And that could be done -- my point is just this:  That could be done by your current proposal obligating direct purchasers to enter into the long-term, long-haul FT contract, or it could be done at a future point by Enbridge implementing a vertical-slice methodology, pursuant to which it would enter into the FT contracts, and then do the slicing; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I want to return to the gas supply design criteria study that you talked about yesterday with Mr. Vegh.  It starts at -- well, I'm going to look at page 121 of Mr. Vegh's document book, and it's the beginning of the gas supply design criteria study.


This was done in 1995 or thereabouts?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Leaving aside for a moment an annual review of the specific numbers and circumstances you look at every year, which I'll come back to, has this study been redone since then?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'd have to go back and check.  I think the calculation would have been redone on the basis of addition of additional number of years, for instance.  If -- you know, we would --


MR. BRETT:  I missed that last word.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In 1995 we would have had fewer years of history than we have today, so each year we would potentially add, I think, the data pertaining to each additional year.  So the methodology was not changed, but I believe the number would have been calculated.


MR. BRETT:  And would it be fair to say that as expressed in the opening paragraphs on page 121, the underlying philosophy has not changed?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  1995 -- I think you reviewed this briefly with Mr. Mondrow -- of course was before the construction of Alliance pipeline and the Vector system?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  It was before the expansion of the northern border system?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  It was before the expansion that occurred roughly the same time on the TransCanada system?  In other words, it was a time of very tight capacity on TransCanada, yes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  In the first -- the second full paragraph on page 121, there is recited there the challenge for the gas supply planner, and reference is made to -- and I'll quote from it:

"Gas supply planners are constantly faced with the challenge of balancing their design to minimize both system costs and the probability of experiencing supply shortfalls."


Skipping a sentence, picking up the next one:

"The ultimate goal of the planning process is to determine the optimal supply portfolio that will result in the lowest system cost without jeopardizing reliability to the LDC's firm customers and without compromising other gas supply-related corporate objectives, which may vary from LDC to LDC."


And that remains a valid statement today?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And that's a principle that Enbridge continues to feel itself governed by?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  In terms -- and I guess you're planner number one for your group, so that's something that you are guided by?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Every year we go through an analysis of our transportation portfolio, run it through a linear programming model to ensure that we come up with an optimal solution.  Typically, it's least cost, but would also take into account diversity and supplier reliability.


MR. BRETT:  And whereas in prior heating seasons Enbridge was prepared to operate its system with a level of direct-purchase gas coming in on other than long-term firm transportation, it concluded some time last summer/early fall that that would no longer be appropriate; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know that I agree entirely with that sentence.  Certainly we are talking about recent history, post-2003, and we did observe that the market responded with a lot of firm transportation of the long-haul variety in 2004-2005.


So in a sense we are really looking at what's happened in the last three years to come to that conclusion.  So I don't know that I would agree that while we were willing to live with a lot less firm transport before, we are not willing to do so today.  I don't know that I can agree with that.


MR. BRETT:  Well, let me put it this way, then.  Prior to the proposal we have before us now, you had not proposed that direct purchasers firm up transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  And you have, therefore, concluded now that they should; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We have concluded that for the small-volume customers, yes.


MR. BRETT:  And initially for all direct-purchase volumes on bundled service, but subsequently amended for just small volume, yes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And you did that giving effect to the planning criteria and philosophy that we've just earlier referred?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And you've concluded, I think for the reasons that you have already articulated, that you have exempted for now, at least, the larger-volume customers from this, even though you recognize realistically you cannot physically curtail their gas consumption, because there's so many of them?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  And you have also, for reasons you have articulated, only obligated smaller customers to 90 percent of their mean daily volume rather than 100 percent?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, again, recognizing that there is migration that occurs, and then the 90 percent we felt would actually fit in well with the readjustment of the daily delivery obligations that we can permit today, which is 10 percent, and perhaps Mr. MacPherson could confirm that.


MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes, marketers can adjust their mean daily volume requirement on general service accounts, the small rate 1s and 6s, homes and small businesses, by up to 10 percent, plus or minus.


MR. BRETT:  And given the zero-capacity available short haul, you have agreed that effectively this means -- the effect of your proposal is contracting long-term on the main haul -- on the main line, yes?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  But you have been careful to say you are not -- as a matter of principle, you are not mandating the path.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  And I believe in the Technical Conference you conceded to one of the other parties that theoretically one could comply with your proposal by contracting firm transportation on TransCanada from North Bay to CDA --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  -- right?  And so if somebody did that, that would meet your requirement?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would meet our requirement.

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  Would that not -- would you not still have concern about how that particular party was going to get their gas to North Bay?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would possibly be concerned.  But the principle was that we were not dictating the path, and that was something that fit in with the principle.

     As well, I'm not fully cognizant of how TransCanada's main line system operates, and with respect to North Bay and, you know, how it integrates all the different paths that it has.

     MR. BRETT:  And would it be fair to look at your decision to exempt the larger-volume customers, the decision to drop to 90 percent of the small-customer volumes, the decision not to dictate path, such that you would allow a North Bay-to-CDA path, taken together, be examples of where, under your planning criteria, you have exercised judgment and are not insisting on absolute firm capacity for all volumes?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree with that statement.  We are exercising judgment.  With respect to allowing North Bay to the CDA, I should also mention that one of the concerns we have -- and I believe TransCanada outlined that in their evidence -- is TransCanada's indicated to us about the size of our CDA, that it spans over a large geographic area that includes three segments of its pipe.


And very often, if there's a bottleneck on any one of those segments, that deliveries into the CDA could be restricted.  Our thinking was that if at least there was a contract that had the CDA as the firm delivery point, then irrespective of the fact that it's from North Bay and not from Alberta, that at least that provides additional comfort on just relying IT to a wide geographic area spanning three separate pieces of pipe, any one of which could have a system issue at any point.

     MR. BRETT:  And would part of that thinking be, Ms. Giridhar, that the risk of bottlenecks was greater downstream of North Bay than upstream?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, presumably.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  At the risk of waxing poetic, I want to pursue for a moment the roads not taken.

     We looked at your gas supply design criteria study on 121, where it talked about a balancing of cost and system reliability.  In the Technical Conference, at page 98 -- you don't have to turn it up, but of course you can if you wish -- you spoke of least-cost optimization.  And I took that to be the same concept of balancing --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  -- described in the study, yes?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'll say yes, but probably I should read.

     MR. BRETT:  Go ahead.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  I want to talk to you a little bit about peak day, a peak day.  Let's say it's the peak day for the winter, or one that's near it.  Doesn't matter for my purposes.

     But I take it that for all bundled-service customers, Enbridge has the obligation to balance their load?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  So whether you're a direct purchaser or a system-supply customer, you're entitled to the same level of service on peak day?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  And that that -- and I take it you meet peak-day obligations by a combination of firm system supply, direct-purchase firm obligations to you, delivery, not transport, storage withdrawal and so-called "peaking supplies".  Is that essentially the four tranches of how you meet peak day?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Including curtailment of interruptible customers.

     MR. BRETT:  Sorry, let's set that aside for a moment, but that's a good point.

     I wanted to focus on how you plan for and contract, briefly, peaking supply.  What is the nature of those contracts?  Let me put it another way.  Would it be fair to say that you contract for firm delivery on a number of days during the winter at your call?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Is that typically how those are done?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And what would be the number of days, typically?  Ten or 20 or something in that order?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Typically 10, and some of those contracts would allow us to extend it beyond -- like, they would allow us to purchase additional bullets if we ran out of them during the season.


MR. BRETT:  And that would be additional volumes on a day or additional days added to the contract?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Typically, additional days.

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And how would you select the number of days in the first instance?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The number of days is based on the 

SENDOUT model, so the design criteria dictate the demand profile that's input into the SENDOUT model, so there would be one peak day at 39.5 degree days or at minus 21 degrees

C.  And then I understand that the model we have today allows for up to six very cold days in each of the three winter months, from January to March.


So essentially there's one peak day and 18 other very cold days that are distributed over the period January to March.  And that would throw out the amount of peaking supplies that will be required and the number of days that it will be required for.

     MR. BRETT:  And using the last winter as an example, what would be the volume, the daily volume, of your peaking supplies?  Did I hear 260,000 gigaJoules?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's my recollection.  It would be around that number.  If not 260, 280 or, you know, something around there.

     MR. BRETT:  That's fine.  And there's no requirement in your contracts with your suppliers of that service that they hold firm transportation into the CDA or EDA, is there?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's certainly an example of the kind of judgment that the utility exercises, in terms of meeting its supply reliability concerns in a cost-effective manner.

     MR. BRETT:  You said to my friend Mr. Vegh yesterday that realistically, it's not the summer period you're concerned about, but the winter period.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Would it be fair to go even further than that to say it's not the entire winter period you're concerned about, but it's a number of days, without saying how many, that you're concerned about?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  All right.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That I'm most concerned about.

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I've heard that word "concern" and I also heard you talk about the anxiety of certain folks working in gas control.  And as I told you in another room at another time, I used to sit in your chair for another gas utility in this country for most of the '90s, so I understand the issue of gas control being periodically anxious.

     But relieving anxiety for gas control is not one of the criteria of your gas-supply study, is it?  That's going to happen periodically?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  To the extent that the anxiety is triggered by concerns about system outage, I would say that it is exactly concerned -- I mean, that the design criteria are very much driven by the same kinds of concerns.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, but I was trying to focus on the fact that you're going to have some tough days doesn't drive the design balance.  The design balance is driven by the balance between cost on the one hand and reliability on the other; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.

     MR. BRETT:  We are all going to have some tough days when it gets really cold in winter.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  In terms of your peaking contracts -- let me back up a bit.

     One of the reasons you have cited for the concern, the growing concern, was that you were unaware of the arrangements behind your direct-purchase customers' firm obligation to you?  You just didn't know what they were doing?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  How they were bringing their gas in?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  Did you ask them?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BRETT:  And they refused to tell you?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we did ask in casual conversations.  It wasn't done through a specific, you know, stakeholder session or anything like that until after the evidence was filed.

But the general answer we always received is that there's a portfolio of assets that they use, and they have firm capacity to some extent, and they rely on other services, and they're able to meet obligations based on that transportation portfolio that they have.

     MR. BRETT:  Right.  And do you, as a result of those conversations or your own knowledge of the business, Ms. Giridhar, do you understand basically how a company like BP operates its portfolio, manages its portfolio, on a daily basis?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have a general understanding, yes.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  In terms of your own peaking arrangements, does it make a difference to you who your counterparty is?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it does.


MR. BRETT:  And you would, I take it, accept a firm obligation to deliver peaking supply on the coldest day of the year from certain parties that you wouldn't -- without an obligation for firm transport from certain parties that you would not accept from certain other parties?  And we don't have to say who they are.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is true that we would seek to do business with the most reliable counterparties for the purpose of meeting peak day requirements.  But we would not -– sorry.  But we wouldn't necessarily have an understanding of what was underpinning the arrangements.


MR. BRETT:  Understood.  Were you, as a matter of interest, involved at all in preparation of your company's submissions to the NGEIR proceedings on storage and storage unbundling a couple of years ago?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was involved in the proceeding, but only with respect to the development of rates, unbundled rates, for power generation in our unbundled customers.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Well, let me go as far as I can on this, and if you don't know, you don't know.


Do you recall that Enbridge in that proceeding either led or supported evidence that spoke to the robust and dynamic nature of the natural gas market and the role of natural gas marketers in that market?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe we did, and I understand that we were talking about the Ontario market at Dawn.


MR. BRETT:  And as part of that evidence, in fact, do you recall that the position of the utilities, supported by other parties, was that the market to look at was much broader than just Dawn?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And do you recall that there were a number of parties opposed to what Enbridge and others wanted, and cited, among other reasons, concerns about pipeline capacity and the ability to move gas around, and that Enbridge opposed those parties and opposed that piece of evidence?  And if you don't know, that's fine.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, I want to return sort of to the optimization.  The goal here -- your goal here, I take it, is to achieve what in your view is a higher degree of reliability on peak day, or peak days, plural?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And put another way, I was struck by the elegance of your discussion of this in the Technical Conference.  The reference is 111, if you want, but there you addressed the increasing opacity in how gas was getting to market, and it was of concern to you, yes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think I can recall those words.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  And that's the mischief you're addressing, so to speak, with this proposal?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe I would describe it as "mischief".


MR. BRETT:  That was a lawyer's term.  That's a good point.


The underlying concern you were addressing was that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Yes.  The underlying concern that I was expressing is I understand probabilities and judgment and optimization and portfolios as a concept.  We do the same thing.  I had to ask the question:  If only -- if less than 20 percent of requirements for a group of customers that have firm distribution service, and must have it on the coldest day of the year, is underpinned by -- is matched by firm upstream transport, do we have an issue that we should be concerned about or not?  


That was the specific issue.  And in that context, the opacity or the non-transparency of market arrangements was a concern.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And I had understood you to say earlier that other than in casual conversation, and then one stakeholder meeting subsequent to your filing of this proposal, you did not take active steps to find out -- to look behind that opaque shroud and find out how the market was in fact working, did you? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We took a different approach.  We certainly asked TransCanada, because ultimately we are completely reliant on that one pipeline and the nature of arrangements on that pipeline to make sure that we don't have shortfalls, because as I've said, everything on Union is firmed up and the other short haul is firmed up, as well.


So, in my view, if the pipeline was able to explain to me how gas was delivered into the system, and they gave me an understanding of what the different tariff provisions with respect to the different services meant, it seemed to me pretty clear that that, in and of itself, would give me an understanding of the security or the reliability of supply.


MR. BRETT:  But the opacity still remained; that's your evidence?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  We talked just a moment ago about the considerations used in setting up the peaking supply, and one of it was selecting a number of peaking -- we'll call them peaking days for which arrangements had to be made to the tune of a quarter of a million gigaJoules a day.


Did you look as -- when you were looking at the alternatives available to you, did you look at taking a similar approach toward the deliveries associated with the direct-purchase market?  In other words, you have proposed firm-up, 200,000.  Did you look at saying:  Well, realistically, I'm only worried for about 28 days because of my understanding of the system?


Did you look at going potentially to the pipeline or to certain of the counterparties in the market and ask them whether or not a service could be designed that would allow you to discharge your reliability obligations, meet your reliability concerns, but wasn't so far as to compel 200,000 gigaJoules to firm up long-term?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  To me that would be the same as going out and seeking peaking supplies that would provide 28 days of coverage for an additional 200,000 gJ, and perhaps that's what you're referring to.  Is that the same sort of thing that you were thinking of?


MR. BRETT:  Well, conceptually it was.  What I was driving at, Ms. Giridhar, is this, that if we accept for a moment -- and I'm not saying I do, but let's accept for a moment that you have a valid, reasonable, and obviously genuinely held -- that's not in doubt -- concern about deliverability of 200,000 gigaJoules a day.


The issue -- one of the issues I am raising with you is:  What are appropriate mechanisms to address that concern?  You have proposed a solution that causes all 200,000 to be firmed up on FT long-term contracts.  


Is there -- was there something short of that that you either did consider or are still willing to consider that might look a bit like a peaking contract, but it is an arrangement that allows you to give you and gas control peace of mind, and at least partially alleviate concern?  Did you look at those kind of arrangements?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'd have to say we did, but underpinning any of those arrangements is the fundamental question:  Could we have the small-volume market's need for system reliability through the winter season met by what today constitutes less than 20 percent firmed-up transport to meet that obligation?


To the extent that we went down the road of more peaking contracts, we would be relying on the same sort of thing that we already have in our supply mix, for which we actually assume 100 percent reliability.  And again -- I know I've said this yesterday -- we assume that 100 percent of our requirements for peak day are actually going to be available.  


We have no reserve margins that we build in.  So if the fundamental issue was inadequate transport into the franchise, and a level that we're uncomfortable with, it didn't seem to me that looking at more of the same sorts of arrangements would really alleviate our concern.  


And I think I might have also said that we've had, during the supply cuts this winter, instances when some peaking supply did not arrive until the end of the day, as well.


So the underlying concern, really, was more about the level of firm transport and the fact that it was seriously short of what needed to match up to firm delivery obligations on our side of the city gate.


So, yes, we considered the idea of more peaking supplies but we felt it did not address the fundamental concern we have here.


MR. BRETT:  You just there mentioned, and you have done it several times over the course of the last day and a half, that a portion of the supply never showed up until the last nomination window.


That's not uncommon, is it?  Aren't there several days during the course of a year where nominations change from the first to the fourth windows, up and down?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, typically we've -- I wouldn't say that's common.  The delivery obligations for all of our direct-purchase suppliers is a mean daily volume.

     Typically, they have a standing nomination that is provided, you know, at the start of the month, or in fact on November 1 sometimes, and not changed for the whole year.  So we don't really -- we're not in a situation where nominations are changed by other parties.

     I don't believe we have situations typically where we call on peaking supplies on the day prior, and that after it's confirmed at the timely nomination window, that there would be any change to it.  We know that we cannot expect changes to the peaking supply.

     The only element of our portfolio that's really subject to additional changes intra-day is the piece that we get out of storage, and then the STS contracts that we have with TransCanada and the M12 with Union that allow up to seven nomination windows.  And really, that's the part of the portfolio and that's something entirely within gas control's discretion, in terms of how demand shapes up relative to what they forecast 24 hours ago.

     So I wouldn't say it's a common occurrence that we would nominate and that the nomination would not be confirmed.  In order to be prudent, typically, what gas control would do is to overestimate at the start of the day to the tune of, let's say, something like 100,000 gJs, and then they would scale back if the demand did not arise, because it's a lot easier getting your nomination down than it is to getting it up.  So that's typically how they --

     MR. BRETT:  And this last anecdote, though, was about the nominations within your control, the ones that you do from gas control, yes?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  And all other nominations tend to be the standing nominations or, you know, pretty much set the previous day and unchanged.


I should note the one exception would be power generators and unbundled customers that have access to more nomination windows, but also the type of services that they would need for it.

     MR. BRETT:  Are you confident in that answer -- if I were to ask you to go away and just check and confirm for me the number of instances in 2008, for example, when there have been changes in confirmations from TransCanada from the first to the fourth windows -- that there would be relatively few cases of that?  Because if your answer is you're confident enough it's relatively few, that's fine.  Otherwise, I'd like you to tell me how many times that happened.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm certainly willing to take an undertaking and check with my gas-control manager.

     MR. SCHUCH:  That would be Undertaking HDU2.3.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  So let me just understand.  The 

undertaking is to confirm that the...

     MR. BRETT:  I'm just reading notes here, so...

I think I would like you to confirm the number of days during calendar 2008 that the confirmations from TransCanada differed between the first nomination window and the fourth nomination window.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  They would have differed on a number of occasions where we scaled back the nomination.  So I think what you would be requesting is situations where the nomination went up.

     MR. BRETT:  Doesn't matter for my purposes, Ms. Giridhar.  The reason I raise it -- let me be honest with you -- is you have on many occasions indicated that a portion of the supply was not confirmed until the fourth nomination window, and the implication, the inference I drew, perhaps incorrectly, was that there was something unusual or wrong about that.  And I am just exploring how unusual it might be.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  So in that case it would strictly pertain to the direct-purchase nominations for bundled supply, as well as peaking.

     MR. BRETT:  It really would be, I think, the total confirmation number between the first and fourth windows, regardless of what causes it.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't mean to argue, but I just want to let you know that that would have happened almost every day, because we do not know, when we nominate, at the time of our nomination the previous day, as to what demand is actually going to be.  So almost every day we'll have downward revisions, and in some cases some upward revisions, but they would pertain to the management of the load-balancing function in storage.  They would not pertain to the direct-purchase market in peaking.  So I really do think I need to get that cleared.


I mean, I can tell you if the nominations went up and to what extent, and if they were confirmed or not.  But every day we would have nominations that presumably come down from what was estimated for weather more than 24 hours previous.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Brett, why don't we get to the undertaking, but allow Ms. Giridhar to break it down into whatever categories she thought was appropriate so we have the detailed information on the record?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Thank you.

     MR. BRETT:  From my perspective, it is now no longer necessary, given the explanation she gave.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. BRETT:  So I can withdraw the request.

Panel, thank you.

Panel, thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Brett.


Any volunteers to go next?

     MR. KILLEEN:  Madam Chair, I'll proceed --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Killeen, go ahead.


MR. KILLEEN:  -- with your permission.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. KILLEEN:
     MR. KILLEEN:  I just have a few questions that are really following up on the cross-examination that we've already had over the last day and a half.  And I don't -- hopefully will not be repeating anything.


So what I'd just like to go back to is a discussion you had just before lunch with Mr. Mondrow about the customers paying for firm transportation and paying for that in their rates.

I just want to put a simple numerical example on the record that will show that the direct-purchase customer who's delivering gas to Enbridge here in the CDA or EDA is paying a net price that is the price that they have contracted with their supplier.

     And for example, you mentioned to Mr. Hoaken earlier that the price of transportation and rates is approximately 4 cents a cubic metre today; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, approximately.

     MR. KILLEEN:  And likewise, the transportation credit paid to direct-purchase shippers is approximately 4 cents a cubic metre?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. KILLEEN:  It's oversimplifying things.  Thank you.


So if I as a direct-purchase consumer are paying 3 cents to my supplier for that transportation, ultimately I'm paying 4 cents on my Enbridge bill.  I'm receiving a credit of 4 cents.  So they offset one another.  And ultimately the invoice that I pay to my supplier of 3 cents is my net transportation cost.  Is that fair?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  Are you referring to an ABC type customer?

     MR. KILLEEN:  No, it would be -- well, it could be an ABC customer.  It could be a bundled customer.

     MR. MacPHERSON:  If it was a -- if the example is a bundled Ontario T-service customer --

     MR. KILLEEN:  Yes.

     MR. MacPHERSON:  -- that would be exactly correct.  If it was an ABC customer, it would be being remitted the 100 percent FT toll, and the customers would be charged the weighted average cost of transportation, as outlined in rider A.

     MR. KILLEEN:  Yes, and I've oversimplified things to some extent and assumed that those two numbers are both approximately 4 cents a cubic metre, so there's a minor difference there, but the net price that I'm paying for transportation in either case is whatever I have contracted with my supplier for.  Is that fair?


[Loud feedback.]

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, maybe we should try that.  If anyone has their mic on and they're not in use, please turn them off.


[Loud feedback.]

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can you try a different mic?

     MR. KILLEEN:  No feedback?  Okay.  We're safe.

     The next area I'd just like to clarify, in your original prefiled evidence, which is Exhibit C1, Tab 1, schedule 8, page 3, you talked about direct-purchase volumes in the neighbourhood of 520,000 gJs a day.  And then when you updated your supplemental evidence, C1, Tab 1, schedule 10, on page 8, it identifies some of the OTS volumes, and they were approximately 500,000 gJs a day.


Could you explain the difference between those two numbers, just very briefly?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think they were -- those are numbers at two different points in time.  I think the earlier number was November 1, 2007, and I believe the latter number might have been November 1, 2008.

     MR. KILLEEN:  Okay.  Now, if I could just take you to Exhibit HD1.1, which were the graphics provided yesterday morning, and specifically the third page, which was titled "EGD Design Date Pipeline Deliveries"?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  For design-day purposes, you're counting on direct-purchase deliveries to show up at EDA/CDA?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  On this page, it identifies in the red box a line entitled "DP firm long haul" -- or "LH", of approximately 36,000 gJs per day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  And that a couple of lines down, the line that was in dispute to some extent yesterday that's labelled "DP non-firm" --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  -- of 419,000-odd gJs a day.  If I add up those two lines, the 36 plus the 419, you get approximately 456,000 gJs a day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  That excludes the assignments of Enbridge capacity to that market.  I think you need to go to BP No. 10 to see what portion of Enbridge's portfolio of long haul of 291,130 is allocated to that market segment.


MR. KILLEEN:  My point in looking at these numbers is just to confirm that when you are planning and creating your supply plan, that at a certain date you know what the direct-purchase volumes are?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  And then you plan on those volumes arriving to your franchise each and every day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  You also plan on those showing up under design-day conditions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. KILLEEN:  So if you know that the direct-purchase volumes today are approximately 500,000 gJs a day, and that's a combination of some that are in the east and some that perhaps are not, as you've just confirmed, but you would be counting on those showing up under design day -- you would be assuming that those same volumes of roughly 500,000 gJs would be showing up in your supply plan each and every day; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. KILLEEN:  So can you confirm, then, that when you updated your evidence and had roughly 500,000 gJs a day, and when you created the supply design-day plan shown on the graphic, that they do reconcile and that you in fact were counting on all those eastern deliveries of direct-purchase volumes to show up under design conditions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, did you say eastern deliveries?


MR. KILLEEN:  Yes.  When I say "eastern deliveries" I mean to the EDA or the CDA, eastern Canadian deliveries.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Eastern Canadian deliveries.  Yes, I'm sure we could reconcile the numbers, because every time -- we do update our design-day plan every year for the then-prevailing level of direct-purchase delivery obligations, and that certainly does change.  My thinking it is about 30,000 gJs lower than what it was in November 1, 2007.


MR. KILLEEN:  And so when you are doing your design day, if you felt that there was a significant risk to any one of your supplies, including the direct-purchase supplies, you could use your judgment and put in a risk adjustment to that supply stream; is that fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Today we don't have a methodology that allows us to maintain a reserve margin, so we actually assume that all of that supply will show up on peak day.  I know many utilities do, and perhaps Dr. Overcast could talk to that.


DR. OVERCAST:  Historically, utilities have developed a portfolio of capacity to match their design day, and in addition, the shape of that load over the whole year -- typically called a load duration curve -- and they match up the supplies to go with that load duration curve.


In addition, a number of utilities recognize that every supply may not arrive 100 percent reliable, because you've got mechanical equipment, like compressors and things like that, or you have peaking supplies -- maybe use a propane air plant that may not start on a cold day, those kind of things -- and they do build in some kind of reserves, typically some small amount of reserves, to protect against those, and that's very common in the planning practice.  


And Enbridge is more conservative in that sense.  They're, I guess I should say, more liberal about their plan than most utilities.  Most utilities are a little more conservative.


MR. KILLEEN:  I like your use of the term "reserve capacity".  Another word might be "contingency"?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  But my point is that if today you are counting on a certain volume from the direct-purchase shippers, and you had some concern that it was not all 100 percent reliable, you could in fact discount it to some extent, say, to 90 percent of the current level or 80 percent or to some level, and then create your design-day portfolio based on that risk-adjusted supply from that group of customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In a sense, we already are reflecting an assessment.  For example, you know, we've got in excess of 400,000 gJs to reflect the needs of firm customers, and our requirement here is for 200,000 gJs.  


So there's already some kind of risk assessment.  Presumably, it's in the direction of assuming that rather than get additional supply, you can reduce demand.  So it's a different way of looking at it.


But historically we have never assumed -- and I don't believe we have explicitly received approval -- to factor in any kind of contingency around going in for more supply than what's required to meet design day.


MR. KILLEEN:  Okay.  Maybe if I could just take a slightly different tack here, your proposal in this, in your evidence, is to essentially have the smaller consumer, the smaller-volume consumer, provide those 200,000 gJs that you believe are at risk.


I'm just suggesting that another way to look at it would be to reduce your expectation of direct-purchase shipper volumes by 200,000, and then put in costs and seek to recover those costs in your supply plan with the OEB.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Oh, sorry, I see what you're saying.


Yes, that would be an alternative.


MR. KILLEEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, we've also talked about the design-day criteria, and specifically your design day is a 39.5 degree day scenario?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  You also mention that the probability of that occurring is a one-in-five-year chance?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  And you also, in your discussion with Mr. Hoaken earlier, mentioned that in January of 2004 you actually hit 39 degrees, if I --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Close to 39.


MR. KILLEEN:  Close to 39.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  And I also noticed when Mr. Brett was chatting with you, on page 121 of Mr. Vegh's documents at the very bottom footnote, it says here that the actual peak day degree day value in January of 1994 was 43.8 -- 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  -- degree days.  So certainly cold days do occur?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  My simple question here is:  Has 39.5 degree days been hit in the last -- has it been achieved within the last five years?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No.  January 15, 2004 was the last time we hit it.  And that was one of the factors around our stress testing, as well, that the last time we encountered close to design degree days, there was no IT available on TransCanada.  And I don't need to repeat myself, but that was one of the things we looked at.


MR. KILLEEN:  Okay.  And my last quick question:  Has Enbridge ever bought a delivered service from any supplier on a firm basis to the central delivery area?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The peaking supplies would be in that category.


MR. KILLEEN:  And how about to the eastern delivery area?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we have peaking supplies to the eastern delivery area, as well.


MR. KILLEEN:  So those peaking supplies which, as we've discussed earlier, are just short-term duration, maybe perhaps 10 days?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. KILLEEN:  Those would be the only volumes that you're aware of that have been procured on a firm basis to delivery areas in your franchise?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that would -- subject to check, I think that would represent 99 percent of our experience with delivered supply.


I mean, we could -- we do purchase part gas at Dawn, but in that instance we hold our own transport from Dawn, so if it wasn't a peak day, that transport would be available and that's what we would use, rather than by delivered supply in the CDA.


MR. KILLEEN:  Those purchases that you just mentioned that are at Dawn, you don't have firm -- if you're buying from a supplier -- you are just procuring that gas at Dawn, it doesn't have firm transportation underpinning it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It certainly has firm transportation from Dawn to the franchise.  And it is our experience that Dawn is a liquid hub, and it's possible to purchase a fairly significant amount of gas at Dawn and have it delivered to you.  Same case with Chicago.

     So typically, you know, you want to have transportation away from a liquid point into the franchise, and that's the issue we're talking about.

     MR. KILLEEN:  I do have -- I did have one or two other questions, but I'm going to defer those to some of my other colleagues, so that completes my questions.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. MacIntosh.  And we'll start that end and move over, if that works for everyone.


Go ahead, Mr. MacIntosh.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MacINTOSH:
     MR. MacINTOSH:  Panel, my name is David MacIntosh, and I'm here on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  I have a few questions of clarification to assist Energy Probe in understanding Issue No. 7.


First, it's my understanding that once your new CIS system is operational, OTS/ABC customers will no longer have on their bill Enbridge's weighted average cost of firm transport; is that correct?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  And at that time your new CIS system becomes operational, OTS/ABC customers will be billed an amount representing the contracted transportation rate of their agent or marketer; correct?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  That's at the discretion of the 

marketer, but likely, yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  So the amount to be included in the bill for OTS/ABC customers for transportation will be provided to Enbridge by the agent or marketer?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes, it's provided through an EBT transaction, through our INTRAC system.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  And that amount will be at the discretion, solely at the discretion, of the agent or marketer; is that correct?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Okay.  Thank you.

     Finally, on that topic area, if the Board Panel sees fit in its decision to grant your request requiring direct-purchase bundled-service customers to contract for firm upstream transportation, is there any financial gain from that decision for Enbridge, other than lowering the risk of Enbridge -- to Enbridge of a system failure?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is no financial gain to Enbridge, other than lowering the risk of system failure, which I wouldn't constitute as the gain.  I would constitute that as a risk.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.


And panel, I have one additional area.  And perhaps the answer is apparent to the other parties in the proceeding, but on reading your evidence and listening to your testimony, it is not apparent to me.

     As I understand it, once the pressure drops on your system, you can no longer move gas from one part of your system to another to solve any supply problems; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I think even if pressure did not drop, because ours is largely a low-pressure system, we would have limited ability to take volumes at, say, the Union Parkway interconnect and feed it to other parts of our system.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  So if this is your problem, why is it that Enbridge has not constructed a pump station, one or two, to permit you to maintain pressure yourself?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, our system was designed to feed the system through extra-high pressure delivery or transmission pressure deliveries of, you know, several TransCanada interconnects.  That's the basis of the design of our system.

     Certainly if that premise changes and we are required to rely more on, let's say, the Union feed and, you know, factor in compression, then, you know, it's a change in how we design our system, so we'd have to take that into account.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Has Enbridge ever done a cost-benefit analysis of that solution?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe that has been warranted, because at the end of the day the supply of the gas has been required, and that supply has been accompanied with enough pressure that it could flow the gas into our system.


So to look at additional compression, when in fact the supply was coming off of the required pressure off of TransCanada, would have been an additional level of redundancy that we wouldn't have needed.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Well, that depends, I guess, whether or not you have wished to solve the problem in a different way that you've brought forward to the Board.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would agree.  If the decision was that Enbridge were to over time reduce its dependence on one of the two pipelines feeding us and rely more on a self-contained flow of gas, then we could do that additional compression.


I'm imagining that that would require us to raise the pressures off our distribution pipe across much of our downtown core, so there will be several issues associated with that.  We'd need to reinforce our pipes, and I would see that as a fairly dramatic or at least significant capital expenditure to do that, but certainly if it was economic we would consider it.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  But that would go on rate base?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Thank you.

Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Wolnik.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WOLNIK:
     MR. WOLNIK:  Good afternoon, panel.  I just have a few questions here today.

And what I'd like to get to is, I just want to make sure I understand both the direct and the indirect consequences of your proposal to generators here.

     Ms. Giridhar, you had mentioned you were fairly involved in the NGEIR proceedings a few years ago to help develop unbundled services for generators, and I think that resulted in Rate 125.  And that rate is in service today and being used; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WOLNIK:  And is that rate affected in any way by this proposal, in terms of sort of having to contract for FT upstream?  Is that -- and demonstrate firm upstream?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe it is.  It's not yet.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


The other broad category of services you have are the bundled services.  Are there any generators in that grouping of services that are affected by this proposal?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Can you --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Or, sorry, not affected by the proposal, but they are certainly bundled customers.

     MR. WOLNIK:  They're bundled, but generators within that bundled category are not affected by this proposal; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  They would be large-volume customers.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.


And presumably one of the reasons they're not affected is because they're relatively easy to shut off if their supply fails.  They're manned on an around-the-clock basis.  You can call them up and have them get offline.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, they would be amongst the biggest customers on our system today.

     MR. WOLNIK:  And in fact, some of the new big ones that are contracting for STFN service actually have flow-control valves installed by TransCanada, and even TransCanada can shut them off, if they see that their supply hasn't shown up; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, turning to some of the indirect consequences, you had referred to a cost of about $21 million that might be incurred, I think, if Enbridge went out and replaced some of that supply on its own on a short-term basis; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Would any of those costs be visited on any of the generators we referred to earlier?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we'd certainly have to come up with a proposal for how those costs would be recovered.  Our thinking at this point is that it would be recovered over all bundled volumes.

     MR. WOLNIK:  So the answer would be yes, then, they could be?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  To the extent that some of those generators take bundled service, yes, they could be.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


And at Exhibit I, Tab 8, schedule 14 -- I don't think you need to turn it up, but it was an interrogatory response to the Consumers Council of Canada.  You talked about if there was a supply failure and you had to go out and purchase additional gas supply to make that up, that that -- those additional costs and the penalties that resulted from that would go into the PGVA?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Would those costs go to any of the bundled generators or look to be recovered from any of those bundled generators?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, because the bundled generators also receive load-balancing service from the company.  I expect that those would be spread out.  But by the same token, to the extent there were penalty revenues, it would offset that number as well.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  No, I think I understand that.

     Now, maybe just turning to Exhibit I, Tab 12,

schedule 5, and I think that was also included in the Shell handout yesterday, page -- I think it was 183.  Just looking at -- this is the curtailment schedule.  And you may not even need to turn it up, but that's what I'm going to talk about briefly now.

     As I understand it, this Phase 0 curtailment, these are interruptible customers, that they actually sign up for interruptible service, and you would shut them off first; is that correct?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  Repeat the question, please?

     MR. WOLNIK:  Phase 0 here, these all-interruptible customers, in the event that you had to implement this curtailment procedure here, Phase 0 are interruptible customers.  That's the nature of their contract with you; is that correct?


MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.


MR. WOLNIK:  And the rate design related to that, do they actually pay a lower rate than what they would otherwise if their service was firm?  Is that --


MR. MacPHERSON:  They pay in a different rate class, and they're also again sated with seasonal credits for the right to interrupt.


MR. WOLNIK:  And going down this chart, then, looking at Phase 1, which refers to all large-volume accounts, are generators in that category?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MacPHERSON:  I'm not positive which category they're in.


MR. WOLNIK:  Is that something that you could just undertake to get back to us on?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be undertaking HDU2.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. HDU2.4:  To provide answer as to which category in the curtailment plan generators are included and whether the gas generator would be curtailed on a semi-regular basis.


MS. NOWINA:  And that is which category in your curtailment plan are generators in?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And there was some earlier discussion today about potentially curtailing large volume customers, and to the extent that that happened, and if that customer were a generator, and based on your knowledge of the electricity industry, would you agree that if that occurred, there would be a revenue loss to that generator?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Potentially, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And from -- again, based on your knowledge, from a system perspective, if that generator was operating and had to be curtailed in order to facilitate this emergency procedure that occurred, that the broader electricity system would have to go out and acquire that shortfall of power that was being produced?


MR. MacPHERSON:  I agree.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And there might be a higher cost to all customers, all electricity customers, associated with that?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Potentially, yes.


MR. WOLNIK:  And there might even be -- if the system couldn't handle bringing on line additional electricity, there might actually be electricity curtailments from that?


MR. MacPHERSON:  I think we have covered that.


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.


MR. MacPHERSON:  The impact to interruption of the gas system would be more damaging than one to the electric system.


MR. WOLNIK:  Or I guess it might be a double-edged sword.  You might get two -- you might cut off your residential load, as well, because it might not have any electricity.


Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.

Mr. DeVellis.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good afternoon panel.  I only have a couple areas of questions.  I know you've had a long time of it.


The first is I just had a clarification question with respect to Exhibit HD1.1, slide 3, that you were just looking at with Mr. Killeen.  And so you have here your EGD design day demand is 3.7 million gigaJoules; is that right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And, again, as I understood what you were saying, along the side, in the box along the side, you had the various, I guess, avenues from which you derive the delivery for the -- on your design day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is that right?  Okay.  I'm just not clear, though, because the amounts here don't total 3.7 gigaJoules, and I'm wondering if you can clarify that for me?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, you have to add the Union-Parkway interconnect volumes to come up with 3.7.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, that's the 2.2 million to M12, or, sorry, the 1.7?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The 1.7, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I see.  Okay, thank you.


And I just want some clarification as to who your proposal applies to.  I know you've been asked this already, but just one area remains for me.


And now you've said that it applies to agent-type ABC customers contracting on the Enbridge system; correct?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, do you have ABC customers -– sorry.  Do you have ABC customers who have direct-purchase agreements that are not through an agent?


MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes, we do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And would your proposal apply to them, as well?


MR. MacPHERSON:  No, it would not.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would not?  Okay, thank you.


Now, I had one last area of questions.  It has to do with the NGEIR decision.  I know Mr. Brett asked you about it as well, but I had some specific passages from the decision that I wanted to put to you, and I wonder -- I provided Mr. Schuch with an excerpt.  I had provided your counsel with it, as well, a couple days ago.


MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, and that has been provided to the panel, but we have not assigned an exhibit number.  Why don't we do that now?  And that would be the excerpt from the NGEIR decision, and we'll assign it HD2.1.


EXHIBIT NO. HD2.1:  Excerpt from the NGEIR decision


MS. NOWINA:  Has it been provided to the witness panel?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe it has.


MS. NOWINA:  Previously?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think it has, Madam Chair.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We just received it a couple of hours ago. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I did send it out electronically a couple of days ago.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  In any event, let me put the packages to you.  I know -- Ms. Giridhar, I know you said you were involved in that proceeding, but not specifically on the gas storage issue, but let me just put the passages to you and -- for your reaction.


Now, the issue in the proceeding as it related to the gas storage issue is whether certain storage pools owned by Union Gas compete in a competitive market such that the services could be deregulated pursuant to the Ontario Energy Board Act; do you recall that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The issue with respect to gas storage is whether the storage pools that are owned by Union Gas compete in a competitive market; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the implication of that is if they do compete in a competitive market, the services could be deregulated and the holders of the storage could charge market rates for storage; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And there was a test employed to determine whether the holder of the storage operated in a competitive market, and one aspect of that test was to define the geographic market, and that is the -- or the geographic boundaries from which we could look for competitors to Dawn storage; do you recall that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if you turn to page 34 of the decision, right under 3.5, "Identification of the Geographic Market", the Board says -- defines what the geographic market test is, and it says:

"The geographic market is the area from which suppliers compete effectively for the business of a given group of customers."


And then the Board sets out the -- summarizes the positions of the various parties, and at the last sentence of the last -- of the next paragraph, identifies the scope of the issue.  And the Board says:

"The issue centred on whether transportation constraints close off access to storage outside Ontario and include a discussion of the secondary market."


Do you see that there?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, sorry.  Could you tell me where it is?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry.  The second paragraph under the heading "Identification of the Geographic Market."


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I see it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The paragraph beginning "The utilities, their affiliates and Nexen"?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then last sentence says:

"The issue centred on whether transportation constraints close off access to storage outside Ontario and include a discussion of the secondary market."


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you see that?  Okay.  And so although the proceeding was about storage, the issue was at least partially framed in terms of transportation capacity; do you see that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And then before I get to the Board's finding, I just want, for the sake of context, to put to you the positions that some of the parties put forward.  And if you turn to page 35, second-last sentence -- sorry, second-last paragraph, beginning with "Enbridge"?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  

"Enbridge pointed out that it is clear that Dawn is physically connected to storage in Michigan and elsewhere through extensive pipeline interconnections.  In the utility's view, the secondary market provides adequate access to substitute storage facilities."


And then if you just turn over to the next page, right under the heading "Board Findings", the Board was discussing the evidence of Ms. McConihe, who was an expert for, I believe, the Board hearing team.  But there's a reference to a rebuttal to Ms. McConihe at the last sentence of that paragraph, and the Board refers to the evidence of Mr. Reed, who was on behalf of MHP.  MHP is an affiliate of Union Gas; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  

"As Mr. Reed on behalf of MHP Canada stated, the existence of pipeline capacity is what is important in terms of integrating markets, not the availability of unsubscribed firm capacity."


And then if you just go down a couple more paragraphs to the paragraph beginning:

"Ms. McConihe acknowledged the existence and likely significance of the secondary market, but expressed concern that it could not be quantified."


And the Board's rebuttal, I guess, was:

"While there may not be sufficient transaction-level data about total secondary market activity, we certainly have evidence which supports the conclusion that the secondary market is relatively deep and liquid and that the market extends beyond just Ontario.  Enbridge referred to this anecdotal evidence as real-world examples of competitive alternatives."

     And then the Board summarizes some of those competitive alternatives on the bottom of that page, and going over to the next page?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And then the conclusion is found at the first full paragraph on page 37.  And the Board says:

"The Board concludes that the geographic market extends beyond Ontario, even though there is a lack of unconstrained, uncontracted firm pipeline capacity.  The Board is satisfied that there are reasonable alternative means for storage customers in Ontario to access a broad market area."

     You see that there?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So this is the proposition I wanted to put to you, is the Board seemed to be saying in NGEIR that whether or not there's firm capacity available, there is sufficient transportation to get gas stored at Dawn to Ontario.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But that seems to be inconsistent with your position in this proceeding.  What you seem to be saying is if you can't demonstrate firm transportation, then we don't -- you don't trust that the shippers can get their gas to Ontario, to your service area.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't think they're inconsistent at all.  I think what we are saying in our proceeding is holding firm capacity gives you firm rights to the capacity, and you can call it when you need it on design-day conditions.

     It does not mean that those firm rights cannot be traded in the secondary market, or even that they could be procured in the primary market.  So I don't see the two issues as related at all.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, as I read the Board's decision, what the Board is saying is that a market has developed and it has developed alternative means to get the gas to your service area, whether or not firm capacity exists.  And you seem to be saying you want evidence of firm capacity.


[Witness panel confers.]

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The way I interpret what the Board is saying is that there is multiple ways of getting gas to Dawn and to Ontario via Dawn.  There's multiple pipelines, and you know, whether it's for uncontracted firm pipeline capacity or not, these paths and these alternatives exist.

I think what we are saying is that the only way -- again, keeping in mind we are talking about our franchise, our service delivery area, the CDA and the EDA, where we have limited pipeline connectivity.  In fact, we are entirely reliant on both Union and TransCanada, and both of them require you to reserve space to ensure that your gas will actually arrive where you need it.  So we're talking about something different.

In fact, in the NGEIR proceeding, we provided a lot of evidence that is entirely consistent with the requirement we have now for our small-volume customers.  It was in the context of the power generators.  The same sorts of issues were raised, that if there are no firm contracts of power generators, you know, and if they draw on our system, they draw on gas that's destined for other customers, it would bring down the system.  We would have system reliability issues.

The same evidence around system outages was filed in the NGEIR proceeding, and Dr. Overcast filed evidence as well, and that's why we talked about the need to have in Rate 125 and Rate 300 the ability to shut off customers, and that was effected through the use of shut-off valves and flow-control valves.


So I don't think there is anything inconsistent between what was presented at the NGEIR proceeding and what we're doing now.  We were talking very specifically about the CDA and the EDA that are limited by certain pipeline connectivities.  They're not located at a hub, and there is no access, other than via these pipelines to get gas into the franchise area.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it fair to say that your customers who require storage, who are contracting for storage, will require it during peak conditions?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And it is also important to note that that storage would have to be combined with transportation away from that storage and into the franchise area.  Purely having the storage does not ensure that you get gas where you need it.  You need to have firm rights to that storage so you can have it on the day when you need it most, which is the day when everybody else will want it too.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  And that's precisely the issue.  The issue was whether transportation capacity constrained the ability of marketers to access storage pools outside of Dawn.  And the Board said that regardless of whether there is firm transportation available, the market has developed these secondary measures to get the gas to where they need it, and so you can look at those other pools as competitors to Dawn.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But you seem to be saying that that effectively, that is not sufficient, that you require shippers to demonstrate firm capacity, because if they don't demonstrate to you that they have firm capacity, you're not confident that they can get the gas to you.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  And that's because we are relying solely on pipeline connectivity to TransCanada to ensure that the gas gets to us.  And so it is a very different situation than talking about Dawn and its pipeline connectivity and the storage assets at Dawn.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I think we can leave that, then.  Thank you.

Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. Buonaguro?  Ms. Young, you still don't have any questions?

     MS. YOUNG:  No, I don't.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon.  I'm Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.  I'll be asking questions on behalf of VECC, and also I have some intermingled questions from Mr. Aiken, who couldn't be here today.


I'm going to be asking some questions about system gas and the system-gas customers, and I thought I should start with a definition of system-gas customers, so we're all on the same page.


Would you agree with me that a working definition of a system-gas customer is a small-volume customer that has not made an election to purchase gas from a gas marketer and relies totally or entirely on Enbridge to provide a bundled default supply and transportation service which is regulated by the Board?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It does not necessarily have to be a small-volume customer.  We could have large-volume customers in the same category.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But subject to that clarification, the rest of it's okay?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think you might take from that that I'm interested in the small-volume customers.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But that's not important.

     Now, if I could ask you to pull up Exhibit TCU2.15.  It's an answer to an undertaking from the Technical 

Conference.  It's TCU2.15.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you were asked at the Technical Conference to provide a percentage of total volumes that come in on TCPL main line.  And the answer provides, for the date March 1, 2009, a breakdown of the total deliveries, I presume for the whole system; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how this March 1st, 2009 snapshot relates to the design-day volumes and transportation requirements?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's approximately a million 

gigaJoules less than our design day.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just looking at the table then for reference purposes, item 1, which is labelled "EGD contracted capacity", that includes -- if you look at the sub-table at the top, it includes system supply; correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, can you just repeat the first part of your sentence?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I'm looking at item 1, which is "EGD contracted capacity"?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that would include the system supply of 74,000 as shown.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that system supply is for system gas?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that -- the daily volume deliveries for that part of the supply are underpinned by your firm long-haul transportation on TCPL to the central delivery area; is that correct?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  The 74,431, I think, would include the CDA and the EDA.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess the point being is that it's underpinned by firm transportation?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, it is.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's not just for March 1st, 2009, that's for all days?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Absolutely.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Including the design day?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think that's also true for the western bundled T customers?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And going down to item 8, which is called "M12 load-balancing"?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That's -- obviously that's the load-balancing portion of the supply, and my understanding is it's underpinned by Union M12 service from Dawn to Parkway?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And that that amount is delivered for the purposes of system gas?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As well as direct-purchase customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, for fear of stating the obvious, the transportation costs related to those two items are allocated to and paid by system gas customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  They are allocated to all customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I'm aggregating the two, the 1 and the 8.  So the system gas supply and transportation charges, and the transportation charges specific to load balancing, are all paid for by system gas customers.  And I understand the caveat would be that part of the transportation allocated to load balancing is allocated to other customers, as well?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But both of those costs -- transportation costs are allocated to system gas customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in the event that your system gas supply requirement exceeds the firm transportation capacity on your design -- or your peak day, what do you do?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  When we're looking at the design-day situation, we're not really looking in terms of separate pockets of customers.  We're looking at total demand.  So for design-day purposes, we would look at the total load-balancing requirements of all customers, not necessarily just system.  


But to the extent that in deriving the design-day supply there has been a shift of customers from, say, direct purchase to system gas, we would assess whether we need to go out and get more firm transportation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess what I'm trying to get at is if there's a situation where there's a failure in delivery with respect to system gas supply, your transportation -- your available transportation for system gas customers doesn't match or doesn't meet what you need to deliver for system gas, specific to system gas supply, what can you do or what do you do?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I guess I'm saying that that situation would be analyzed independent of the design day.  We would look at it just like you would look at the mean daily volume of direct purchase customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  You would make the assessment as to whether you need to go out and get some more transport in order to meet those requirements.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I may have misspoken when I added the design day language.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And so how would those costs be allocated?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, today, all of those costs go into the calculation of the weighted average transportation cost, which is borne by all customers, system gas and direct purchase.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  But if that was a migration, essentially you would have had a reduction in the T-service credit, and you would have replaced it with the arrangement you have for the increased system gas customer.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.


Now, with respect to -- well, perhaps we can turn up another IR response, Consumers Council of Canada, IR No. 14, and the second paragraph of that answer talks about Enbridge making every effort to seek incremental supplies to compensate for the failure to deliver by direct purchase customers relying on non-firm transport.


And I take it this response is talking about the same -- sort of the flip side.  If a direct purchaser on a particular day fails to deliver, what can you do?  And you talk about every effort to make purchases.  Can you describe what you would have to do on that day?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  So we would assume that this is happening on a very cold day, because that is the issue we are talking about here.  And as a result of certain types of transportation arrangements being cut by TransCanada, you would have to assess what was not confirmed, and we would then have to go out and try and get that supply.


Now, to the extent that it wasn't actually design-day conditions, we would probably call on more peaking supply, and if we had some room on our M12 STS contracts and if we had the deliverability of storage -- or maybe we would even buy more gas at Dawn.  In other words, if we had the ability to get gas at Dawn and transport it to the franchise, we would do that.


So at anything other than very extreme cold temperatures, we would, you know, try very hard to use any excess transportation that we would need, with reference to the requirements on that day, to try and get gas to the CDA and EDA.


Now, that gas could cost more, because if it was a colder than average day, gas price may be high.  And those cost consequences would be put into the PGVA, and then the customers who failed to deliver would pay a penalty and the penalty revenues would also go into the PGVA.  And if there is a net amount to be disposed of, then it would be disposed of to customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the last part that you're talking about, the costs going to the PGVA and the penalty going to the PGVA, then PGVA is cleared to who?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We have a disposition methodology for the PGVA, so the deemed cost of the molecule -- variances in the cost of the molecule go to system-gas customers, and any load balancing costs would go to all customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So in this instance, you're treating it as a load-balancing cost?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you able to estimate the cost, if I give you a volume, for example, of 200 gigaJoules per day?  Can you guesstimate what the costs would be going into the PGVA?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We couldn't do that, because it would depend on what it would cost us on that day to procure 2,000 --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you give a range, like, if you were to -- 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it would be impossible.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're telling me it depends on the cost of gas?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Exactly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is it that simple?  It's 200 gigaJoules times the cost of that 200 gigaJoules?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


Now, I've talked about --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Offset by the penalty.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Offset by the penalty.  Thank you.

I've talked about the situation where you have a shortage in delivery with respect to system gas supply, and I've talked about the situation where you have a shortage of supply related to direct purchase.  Am I to understand, generally, from the evidence in this proceeding that in the case of system supply, that failure to deliver as a result of a failure of transportation is very unlikely, because all system supply is backed by firm transportation?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The situation we are discussing here is around the type of contracting arrangement, and certainly system gas supply is backed by firm transport, and that is the highest priority of service.


It does not mean, of course, that it would never be disrupted.  I mean you could have an occasion where firm transport is also disrupted and if upstream pipeline caused force majeure.


So I'm certainly not suggesting that there would never be a disruption of system gas, but it would not be because of the type of contracting arrangement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And the flip side, we're talking about -- the concern you have is with respect to direct purchase, and the specific concern is to the extent that direct-purchase deliveries are underpinned by something other than firm transport?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I've been talking about on the day.  And throughout the evidence you've been talking about -- I think it's been referred to a couple of times as either insurance or backstopping type of arrangements that Enbridge might be able to do.  I'm assuming that those two terms would be interchangeable, in your mind?  


You're talking about arrangements that you can make in the event that there's a transportation problem related to non-firm transport arrangements.  You can call it insurance or you can call it backstopping?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, but I think in this example we weren't presuming -- the difference between backstopping and just incremental supply is that a backstopping arrangement is something that you would put in place as part of your plan to meet design-day conditions, so that would be available to you to meet the demand criteria.  


And I think what we were talking about in this interrogatory response is just trying to make every effort to get more supply, and, of course, if you have the capacity into the franchise, you would be able to get that supply and transport it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's how I understood it.  Thank you.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you talked about a couple of scenarios, I think, for backstopping.  And, for example, Mr. Warren, I think, was the first one to take you through this example where you would contract for short-term firm transport --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Short-term firm transportation --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- for 90 days, and you came up with a cost of $21 million?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And he asked you about how those costs would be recovered, and that's at the transcript at -- the transcript from yesterday, May 7th, at page 46 and 47?  Okay?  You have that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And you said, in terms of how it would be recovered -- and this is at page 47:

"It could be recovered all -- over all distribution volumes, and the entire marketplace could support it, our franchise could support it as a system reliability cost."


Then you made an estimate -- now, the estimate was based on $11 million cost.  I think you corrected it today to say it's $21 million?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.  I corrected it later.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'll read that in when I'm talking about it:

"In the event that we were talking about $21 million, our estimate is that it would result in a cost to the average resident of approximately..."


Do I double that?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, you do.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  -- to 6 to $8 for the whole year?

"The impact on larger customers, of course, would then depend on their consumption."


And then the last thing you say is:

"But that would be a cost-allocation issue, and you know, we would certainly be happy to lay out some options there."

     Now, in terms of a cost-allocation issue, my understanding is that whether we're talking about your proposal as it relates to your evidence of what you actually want to do, in terms of requiring firm transportation, or whether we're talking about these other proposals, which has Enbridge doing something to provide some sort of insurance or backstopping, and incurring costs on behalf of customers in some way, shape, or form --

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We are talking about the latter.  Our evidence, as it stands, is that the direct-purchase community would go out and procure the firm transport.  But if that was an option that was not to be approved, and an alternative was required, then the alternative would be for us to go and get some backstopping capacity for the cold winter months.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, but my question is this:  Whether we're talking about your proposal or an alternative like this one, the cause is the same, isn't it?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The cause, in your mind, is the risk that's posed by the way in which direct purchasers contract for transportation into the system?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And under your proposal you -- they would directly pay all the costs, because they're the ones who would be directly paying for firm transportation?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And what I don't understand is why it would switch under this proposal to have the whole system pay the costs when the cause hasn't changed.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I'm not proposing this at this point.  I think I was asked the question as to what the costs would be.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  And I just provided that as an example of what the impact would be if everybody picked up that cost as a system reliability cost.

     It's certainly not my suggestion that that be the way it's handled.  It was just demonstrating what would be the consequences if it was handled that way.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then the important part of this quote would be the fact that you note that it would be a cost-allocation issue, which would have to be resolved?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I added that little last bit, but I think you agree with me.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, obviously, in the event that the Board does not agree with you that there's a material risk involved in the way that direct purchasers are contracting for transportation, would it be fair to say that, well, first of all, that your proposal wouldn't be approved, probably?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Would it also be fair to say that these insurance or backstopping proposals would also be equally unnecessary?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe I answered this question yesterday when Mr. Warren asked me what we would be prepared to do.  And the answer was certainly that we believe it's a risk.  That's why we brought it before the Board.  And we would hope that it's acknowledged as a risk and that some action can be taken.


But ultimately, if it is deemed not to be a risk, and if there was any risk of cost recovery for the company, that we would have to think very hard in terms of what our next steps would be.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm a little confused by that, because if the Board goes -- at the end of the day looks at all this evidence and says:  The risk that you are making proposals to deal with doesn't exist, or at least doesn't exist to the point where it's material that you should take any action, and therefore we're not going to approve the proposal to require firm transportation from direct purchasers, you seem to be saying that you might still go out and, for example, contract for 200,000 gigaJoules for three months at a cost of $21 million in order to provide backstopping or insurance on the system, and then seek to recover those costs from customers, and if you did it the way you mention as a potential example, all customers, even though it's a risk that you don't see being created by all customers.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't think I said that.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  If the Board does not view this as a risk, and rules that no action is warranted, I think we would have to abide by that ruling.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  In which case you either would do nothing and allow the status quo to persist -- you would live with the status quo, potentially?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I imagine we would, and continue to be very anxious about it.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I appreciate that.

     Now, there was a question -- or, sorry, there was a line of questions from Mr. Killeen where he proposed a solution, I think, to build a contingency for 100,000 gigaJoules a day for 90 days?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  His proposal, as I understand it, was to build in a contingency for maybe half the amount that you're looking for?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  And whose proposal, sorry?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Killeen, from ECNG -- Killeen, sorry.  Sorry, Mr. Killeen.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't know.  I cannot recall the exact number that he was talking about.  I thought it was 200,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah.  Yeah, it was the same proposal as the 21 million.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, it was.

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I can get his help here.

     MR. KILLEEN:  I didn't specifically throw out a volume.  I was just throwing out the hypothesis that those volumes -- or the particular volumes may not show up, and therefore Enbridge may build a contingency into its supply plan to cover for that risk.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we could take that as the structure that he's proposing -- and I'm going to add the number.  So if you were to build in a contingency for 90 days to cover the three worst months of the winter, for -- to cover an extra 100,000 gigaJoules, can you cost that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be half of -- in fact, that's actually essentially what was laid out originally and then subsequently corrected to 200,000.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I understand.  Thank you.

     And I have one last bit of questioning.  It's about the vertical-slice methodology.  Am I understanding that correctly, that if and when you're able to offer vertical-slice pricing, I guess I'd call it, is it simply the case that you would purchase more transportation than you do now, and then offer that, turn around and sell that at cost to direct purchasers?  Is it that simple?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  Effectively, we'd be assigning the capacity on a pro rata share equal to the company's pipeline profile to marketers and customers, and they would be responsible to optimize that capacity and pay for it directly.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  What effect would that have on existing system gas supply, for example, in terms of costs?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  A couple of things.  First of all, in the next little while, if no other capacity is in fact available to the franchise, that would require us, in this example, to go out and get 200,000 gJs of TransCanada long haul.  I don't believe that that would have a material impact on the system-gas customer, because the weighted average cost of transport today actually has that number built in.

     However, to the extent that under vertical slice -- so essentially what we have today is vertical slice by cost allocation, if you will.  If we really did have a true vertical-slice methodology and assigned transport in those proportions out, it would certainly change the mix of transportation that the company holds and optimizes.


And I imagine that that would have impacts, for example, on the transactional services revenue that we were able to get, because it would change the mix of assets that the company holds.


So I cannot completely, you know, describe the impact.  From a pure cost perspective, I think it would not be very different from what we have today.  In terms of some of the offsets our customers receive by way of optimization, that might change.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I think if I were to put it simply, you would buy more, which would cost more, but then you would be selling it, so the cost would come out.  But then there would be some changes here and there, based on the mix that you have, and then the potential to earn more money on transactional services?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah.  Basically, we would continue to recover that cost.  Today the cost is recovered and remitted to an agent.  Under the vertical-slice methodology, you would just assign it, and so we would not actually incur the cost, because it will be borne by the direct purchase agent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So essentially very little cost impact today.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  I have no questions.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Let me just add, Mr. Buonaguro, except for the fact that there will be some implementation costs to implement vertical slice.  Sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Now, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  I have no questions for this panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Anyone else?  Ms. Campbell.


QUESTIONS BY MS. CAMPBELL:


MS. CAMPBELL:  I don't know whether you want to take a five-minute break for the...


MS. NOWINA:  That's a good question, Ms. Campbell.  Would the witness panel like to take a five-minute break, and then come back?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We are fine.


MS. NOWINA:  No?  You want to get it over with?  

[Discussion with court reporter.]


MS. CAMPBELL:  I just didn't want anybody passing out or having other difficulties.


I know it's 25 after 3:00 on a Friday, and everybody would much rather be taking advantage of the weather, so I will be quite brief.


These questions, the questions that I have, are somewhat random in nature and are clarifications of some of the evidence that's come out.


My first question has to do with nomination windows.  One of the things that has come across very clearly is that the level of anxiety -- and I take it the intake of Zoloft -- at Union increases if people have not looked within the timely nomination window?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct, if their volumes are not confirmed.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And so that's really the issue, is it not, that if you received confirmation that those volumes had been booked in a timely nomination window, that would alleviate much of the concern, because you would know what is going on; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Has there been any consideration given to asking the shippers, making it a requirement that they post their gas nominations in that timely nomination window?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Oh, that is a requirement of the contract.  So, essentially, the way that works is that, because their volumes don't change from day to day, they have a standing nomination on the pipeline.  The issue is:  Does the pipeline confirm those volumes or not?  And --


MS. CAMPBELL:  And what would it take for you to get the information that confirms the volumes that gives you the confidence that the gas will arrive?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would actually be a confirmation process from TransCanada that says that this standing nomination has been confirmed and the gas will flow.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And is it possible to get that?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We get it on almost -- you know, most of the time when the gas is scheduled and there are no restrictions, then that confirmation does arrive.  If there is firm transport underpinning it, we know typically that the gas will arrive.  


If it's IT, then TransCanada has a different process around confirming it.  So if it restricts IT, then the confirmation will not come from TransCanada, and then you will not know if that gas will flow.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Have you asked the -- has there been any attempt --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Has there been any attempt by Union to require the shippers to provide confirmation from the pipeline other than -- sorry, from the entity that's providing the transportation, if it's not TransCanada?


MS. NOWINA:  You meant by Enbridge?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry, I didn't understand the question.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You said that you can only get it from TransCanada, and it's only if it's underpinned by firm that you get the confirmation that you're requesting; right?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, no.  We have to get a confirmation -- maybe this might help.


So we need to get -- we've got standing nominations for 400,000 gJs, right, for the direct-purchase customers?  And then every day at the timely nomination window, TransCanada will either confirm those 400,000 gJs or it may confirm a part of the 400,000 gJs.  Well, if all 400,000 gJs are confirmed, then we know that that direct-shipper gas is going to flow.


If that 400,000 gJs is not confirmed, then we would wait to see if it gets confirmed by the next nomination window.  And only the pipeline that's scheduled to flow the gas can confirm it, because they are the ones who have to authorize that volume.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Have you considered asking direct purchasers to provide you with the confirmation from the pipeline that's going to flow the gas?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  As opposed to the pipeline itself?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I would view that as a less efficient process, because they need to receive that confirmation from the pipeline, and then the confirmation would go from the pipeline to the direct-purchase customer, and then to us.


The way it works today, it goes directly from the pipeline to us.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.

There have been various options that have been talked about to death in this room over the last two days, and there has also been put to you:  What would you do if the Board didn't find there was a risk?  


If the Board did find there was a risk, but were not persuaded that what you're proposing, which is they've got to have 90 percent of their mean daily volume underwritten by firm transportation, what of the options that have been canvassed here today would be the most suitable, in your view?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  One of those options would be the requirement that direct-purchase customers demonstrate short-term firm for a period of time.  Our preference would be over the entire winter period.  So that could be one option.


Another option could be that we be -- Enbridge be authorized to procure that short-term firm transportation.


And, in our view, short-term firm transportation could work for one or two winters, but, essentially, we think we need to transition to a requirement where we talk about FT for the marketplace.  So that could be either through a later ruling on vertical slice -- I mean, these are all options down the road.


But in terms of immediately addressing system reliability for the next winter, short-term firm transportation would be an alternative.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You also indicated -- we talked about the $21 million cost for three months with the short-term firm.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  But you also indicated that there have been design days that have occurred in December, January, March -- sorry, I missed a month, didn't I?  December, January, February, and March.


Would you be content with three months, or would it be your position that it should be four months?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We believe that four months will cover off the probabilities in terms of design days, so our preference is for four months.  I think I was asked about three months, and those are the numbers that we laid out for three months.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And can you tell me what the cost of four months of STFT would be?  And if you don't know, you can certainly give me an undertaking.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Or I can -- I think I can calculate that.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Of course you have a calculator.  I should know that.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be $28.5 million based on today's TransCanada tolls.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And the payment of that $28 million would be the same as has been discussed for the 21 million?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

My next question relates to a clause that appears -- it's written by Union, and if you would pick up the cross-examination brief by Shell, the easiest place to find it is page 196.  It's under the heading of "Best Practices" and I believe Mr. Vegh brought it to your attention yesterday.  


And it's the clause that Union requires direct purchase customers for all rate classes to have upstream firm transportation arrangements.  And it says:

"Unless otherwise authorized by Union, customers who are delivering gas to Union under direct purchase arrangements must obligate to deliver it at a point specified by Union and must acquire and maintain firm transportation on all upstream pipeline systems."


Now, my recollection is that yesterday you gave evidence that you were not aware that this clause had not been enforced by Union? 


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I have problems with negatives sometimes.


I'm aware that Union does not necessarily enforce the clause.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Are you aware if Union ever enforces the clause?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I wouldn't know.


MS. CAMPBELL:  And did you know of this clause before you -- before you came up with the proposal that you brought to the Board, or was this an inspiration for it, shall we say?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, this was among the first things we did when we became aware of the level of firm transport.  The first thing we did was to say:  Oh, let's check with Union's tariff and see if there's something there.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Did you discuss the clause with Union?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we did.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And what did they tell you their experience was with it?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I discussed it with two different groups of people.  So one group was aware that -- and this would be the gas-supply group, and they were aware, I believe, that the clause was there.  And I think, on speaking to their equivalent of the direct-purchase group -- and I didn't have that conversation.  I think -- was it you, Ian?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  In the conversation they expressed that they knew this was there.  However, their confidence in the liquidity of the Dawn hub and the amount of storage in the franchise gave them a great deal of confidence that this did not need to be enforced at this time, and that the existing practices were acceptable.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And you were also aware that this has never been enforced?

     MR. MacPHERSON:  We didn't get into that.  I don't really know.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And now, Dr. Overcast, I'd like to turn to you.

I actually am interested in hearing what other jurisdictions do.  So I'd like you to pull your report out, please.  And for everyone in the room, that is Exhibit C, Tab 1, schedule 9.  It's page 7 of 11 -- I'm sorry, not immediately page 7 of 11.  It's 11 pages and it has some attachments.

     And the first thing I understand, Dr. Overcast, is that you looked at both Canadian and American jurisdictions; am I correct in that?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you tell me which Canadian jurisdiction you looked at?

     DR. OVERCAST:  The Canadian companies were Gaz Metro, ATCO, and Terasen Gas in Whittier in Fort Nelson.  So that would be British Columbia, Alberta, and Quebec.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And can you give me an overview of what those jurisdictions did with regard to the issue of FT to the city gate?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Gaz Metro requires FT capacity and assignment as available.  ATCO did not specify the requirement, and their service is subject to curtailment.  They're also in a liquid, highly -- I mean, they're similar to Union in that sense.  Terasen Gas in Whittier had no transport, and Terasen Gas in Fort Nelson required FT, according to their tariff.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And you also examined, obviously – the great majority of the jurisdictions you looked at were American.

     DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And just giving me an overview, sir;  you looked at approximately 40, I believe?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And how many actually had the requirement in place that Enbridge is now seeking from the Board, of the 40?

     DR. OVERCAST:  I think it's safe to say that none of these jurisdictions had exactly the requirement, because this is sort of a hybrid requirement.  They're only applying it to a subset of direct-purchase customers, and most jurisdictions have a rule that either applies to everybody, or they don't even offer this service to small-volume customers like residential and commercial.  And then we even have some jurisdictions that don't even provide transportation in the US.


But by and large, the models that exist out there, they require FT.  They release capacity for it.  That's probably the most common.  And in fact, if you were to go look at, like, the state of New York, they've been going through this process.  They went through exactly the same process that this hearing is going through, essentially.  I mean, they've gone through IT firm capacity held by the marketers, and they have finally settled, I think in about 2007, they settled on the LDC acquiring FT and releasing it to the marketers.

     And they grandfathered any marketer that had FT to the system and said:  You can count that, as long as it's a contract with renewal rights.

     And so basically, you've got jurisdictions all across -- and I can speak -- for example, Atlanta Gas Light, which I was responsible for, Atlanta Gas Light plans the capacity to meet the design day.  That gets allocated out to every marketer.  Every marketer takes a share based on the customers they have.


And it's really the -- in Atlanta, the customer is the one who has the capacity.  Capacity goes with customer.  And we did that for a very specific reason.  That was to make the market contestable.


So if marketer A has a customer, then he gets that customer's capacity.  If that customer moves to marketer B, the capacity moves with him, and that creates a perfectly contestable market.

       And that's fully assigned.  There are some exceptions related to storage and other things.  And a number of other companies do -- have the same system.

     There are utilities that do not require their marketers to have firm capacity.  Typically they're either in production areas or they have a provision where they, like South Jersey Gas, for example, when they first opened their market, they took 50 percent of the capacity needed to serve their transportation customers and said:  We're going to keep that as a backstop for the delivery to the competitive customers.  So they -- in other words, they kept a reserve margin or a standby amount.

     You have other jurisdictions that require that firm gas be transported under the company's -- they have, like, a long-term firm -- long-haul firm transportation rate.  And it's essentially you're moving the gas on their capacity.

     So I would say that the majority of -- clearly, the majority of the US LDCs require FT.  And the idea is you want to avoid having duplicate capacity, I mean, so you don't want the LDC to be holding all the capacity needed to meet the design day if you also make marketers hold FT.  And that's why the release capacity process works, in my view, better than the alternatives.


And in fact, that was the view of the New York Commission in that 2007 decision.  They basically said:  We don't want any duplicate capacity, but we want to be sure there's firm to the city gate, so that we can assure reliability of the system.

     And in fact, their reason for not permitting short-term, if you read the decision, their reason for not permitting short-term firm capacity was that it didn't have a right of renewal.  So they wanted the long-term contract so that they can -- they have the right of first refusal to renew that capacity if it's needed.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, some of the jurisdictions you indicated don't require firm --

     DR. OVERCAST:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  -- transportation.  Are you aware of the reasons why they didn't require firm?  What do they have in place?  Because obviously, if there's a system reliability issue, someone's alive to it, but they've chosen not to put in place firm.  Why not?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Where you've only opened up to the largest customers, they have said:  We are not going to dictate to you how you get your gas here.  But if your gas doesn't show up, you're shut off.  So they've created a -- basically, an interruptible service.  And if the gas doesn't get to their city gate, the customer is interrupted.


Or they'll sometimes have standby service, that the customer can buy gas at a -- if it's available on the system at a market-based price on the day that their service is not delivered.


MS. CAMPBELL:  In this room there have been discussions about various options, Dr. Overcast.  Assume again, much like I have put to Ms. Giridhar, that this Board does not accept that there is a requirement that there be firm, but they do appreciate that there is a reliability risk to the system.


Which of the options that you've heard discussed in here, and any option that you haven't heard discussed but can come up with now, would you believe to be most suitable?


DR. OVERCAST:  Well, I'm probably the most oriented market -- market-oriented gas person you've talked to, and I don't think that you necessarily have to dictate to the pipelines how they do it.  If they can demonstrate that they have firm capacity, and I don't care if it comes from Louisiana by way of Colorado and through Vector -- I mean, if they can demonstrate to Enbridge that they can get gas to the city gate on a firm basis, then that's really the solution.


And, you know, I think that short-term firm transportation is a reasonable alternative in the short term.  And, ultimately, I think you need to get to the point where you have Enbridge acquire the capacity to meet the design day and they allocate that capacity to the marketers, and that's the end point to me that makes the most sense.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass.


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


A number of the cross-examiners have asked questions about the peaking service that Enbridge acquires.  Ms. Giridhar, could you explain, please, why the company does not look behind that peaking service for firm transportation arrangements?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The company has relied on peaking supplies as an approved way and a reliable way of getting gas to the franchise for, oh, I would say at least 15 years or more.


As I'd mentioned earlier, our peaking supplies are RFPd -- first of all, the amount of peaking supply is determined based on our SENDOUT run.  It tells us what volume we should be seeking, and then we RFP it and we transact based on the results of the RFP and ensure that the counterparties we deal with are the most reliable.


My understanding is, typically, these peaking contracts are a situation where the counterparty holds a portfolio of assets, presumably firm, to, say, Niagara or Iroquois, and then they divert that gas for us.  And that's the arrangement that's been in place for the longest time.


And in my experience, until January of this year, we've never really had issues when the gas did not show up or there was any uncertainty for the gas showing up.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I'm going to ask you to switch direction completely now.  I know that there's been lots of cross-examination.  I have two areas of arising out of questions by Mr. Hoaken this morning, so take your mind back to that, if you can.


One of the suggestions he put to you related to -- well, what he suggested to you was that if you had engaged in consultations earlier, you might have learned earlier about the marketers' hedges.  Is this ringing a bell with you?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I just wanted you to comment on if you knew earlier what you know now about marketers' hedges, how would that have affected your thinking?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe that it would have affected our thinking.  The fact that hedges were entered into at the CDA as opposed to Alberta would certainly have come as a bit of a surprise, even if that had come up earlier.  But at the end of the day, the issue was one of system reliability and ensuring that we have firm transport to the franchise, at least to meet the needs of the small-volume customers.


So I don't think the hedges would have necessarily affected the outcome of our proposal.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I don't want to belabour it.  I know it's the end of a long day.


You've said a couple of times the fact that the hedges were at the Ontario, and it was a surprise.  Why was it a surprise?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It was a surprise because the arrangement -- the manner in which the direct-purchase arrangement works in our franchise is that the gas supply charge is based on an Alberta price, an Empress price, and so what the customer sees is Enbridge's Alberta price, and what the customer is hedging is an Alberta price.


The transportation from Alberta, or wherever the supply is procured, to the franchise is recovered in the transportation charge, which currently is bundled in with the delivery charge.  So it didn't seem to sync up with the way our rates are set up.  And, again, you know, having a utility mindset, we presumed that the hedges would match the manner in which rates are set.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I'll move to a different subject.

Again, this was Mr. Hoaken's cross-examination.  I'll just see if I can bring your mind back to this subject.  It was on the subject of penalties, and he used the word "theory".  He used the word -- I think he referred to Enbridge's "theory" about the effectiveness of penalties.


And you will recall that there was a discussion around whether you had been able to validate your thinking about effectiveness of penalties.


I just wanted to ask you, Dr. Overcast -- I don't know whether you do or not, but do you have any knowledge about situations where effectiveness of penalties have been validated or tested?


DR. OVERCAST:  I've had discussions at NARUC meetings with commissioners from other states about their concern that their penalties weren't high enough and that gas was diverted from their state to another state, and how would you resolve that problem.  That would have been in the '90s when I was attending the NARUC meetings on a regular basis. 


I actually think that the only really effective penalty, ultimately, for design-day delivery is to pay for the 12 months of firm capacity associated with that delivery.  That's really the only effective penalty, ultimately.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I didn't mean for you to repeat that.  It was just, again, in the context of this discussion that occurred about whether the penalties have been tested or validated, the effectiveness of them, and I just wondered whether you have any knowledge of actual situations.


DR. OVERCAST:  Not that I can point to specifically.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.


Then I'm going to -- if the panel has the transcript, I'm going to skip right back to Mr. Warren's cross-examination that started the day yesterday, the day of cross-examination.  If I could take you to page 28 of yesterday's transcript?


Generally, there was a discussion that started at the top of page 27 about when you began to offer turnback around the year 2000, and then the discussion carries on towards the bottom of page 28, where at lines 21, 22, Mr. Warren asked about -- or made the comment that you can point the Board to one single day in which your team got nervous about gas supply over that period.


Are you generally with me in the context of the question?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yeah.  I think so.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Over that period, has Enbridge ever experienced a combination of today's direct-shipper contracting practices and design-day conditions?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, it has not.


MR. CASS:  What would be your comment on the implications of a combination of those two things, design-day conditions and today's direct-shipper contracting practices?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's very much the concern we wanted to express through this proceeding, that if we had the level of firm contracts we do today and we had design-day conditions, and the same sorts of cuts that TransCanada had, for example, the last time we were close to design-day conditions, we believe we would not be seeing a large proportion of the 400,000 gJs that are not contracted for firm, based on our understanding.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  In an effort to shorten this re-examination, I'm going to draw together several references.  I wouldn't normally ask such a long-winded question, but I'm hoping we can tackle several things at once.  If you would just bear with me, I'll try to give you the references in order.


First, I think a couple of cross-examiners today, maybe Mr. Brett and Mr. Mondrow, have referred to this concept that the companies like a Shell or a BP are out there optimizing a portfolio.  And this was something that also came up with Mr. Vegh yesterday.  And I'll give you two more references, just so that we can try to do this all in one answer.

     So the second reference is, I think, at page 173 of yesterday's transcript.  Or it may be even page 1 -- 174 might be better, but it covers quite a few pages.

     So if you look at, for example, starting at line 4, at the top of page 174, what Mr. Vegh is throwing out, essentially, is the perspective on the one hand of these companies trying to optimize a portfolio, and on the other hand your perspective about trying to serve the utility.  So there's been some discussion about how these two things come up against each other.

     And then the third reference, if I can give that to you as well, is over on page 175, in the middle of the page.  Mr. Vegh was again asking about Shell or BP.  And his proposition to you was:

"Let's make Shell or BP act as if they were a utility and only enter into long-term firm transportation contracts."

     And Ms. Giridhar, you made the comment:

"I think we can speak to the experience of other jurisdictions."

     And I think that was a situation where you maybe didn't get -- you or Dr. Overcast didn't get a chance to fill out the answer.

     So with those several references, could we -- is it possible -- and perhaps, Dr. Overcast, we would need you on this -- to sweep it all up into one answer, this issue about the utility requirement coming up against what companies like Shell and BP do to optimize?  Is that something, Dr. Overcast, that you see in other jurisdictions, and how is it handled?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Well, I think the answer is that marketers optimize based on the rules that exist within that context, that at least, having been on a management committee of a wholesale gas marketer and being instrumental in forming retail gas marketing companies, you look at the rules and you optimize underneath those rules.

     So if a rule permits you to make a decision that adds to the value of your service and the profitability of your operation, then obviously you're going to follow that rule and maximize your return under those rules.

     So think of the tariff, all the provisions in the tariff, as a set of constraints.  And if those change, then people change how they respond, and they optimize based on all -- I mean, most of these big guys are not in just one or two jurisdictions, they're all over the country, and the rules are different everywhere, so they're optimizing over all of these particular sets of rules and in all the different markets.

     And if the rules permit you to take an action that may not be in the best interests, ultimately, of the LDC, they're still going to do that, because that's part of their responsibility.  Their responsibility to their company is to maximize the return under the rules as they exist.  And so changing the rules just changes the way they have to optimize their mix of decisions.

     MR. CASS:  Okay.  Are you aware of any jurisdiction where this issue about the desire of these companies to optimize became an insurmountable obstacle to the utility's desire to have firm upstream transportation arrangements?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Well, I think if you look at the evolution of what went on in New York, I mean, they've gone through several iterations between the mid-'90s and 2007, when they finally settled on firm transportation.  It included interruptible.


And I think LDCs work really hard to not let problems impact their ability to serve customers.  And they may do that by having duplicate capacity.  They may do that in any number of ways.  But the bottom line is that no LDC wants to have a system failure.  So they're going to just do everything they can to prevent that.

     But it may be done at the expense of customers who pay for some of the costs, the reliability, that properly belong on the competitive market.

     MR. CASS:  Okay.  And just one last area, I just wanted to see if you had any comment on it, Dr. Overcast, because I don't think you were given an opportunity.

This would be page 147 of yesterday's transcript, again, Mr. Vegh's cross-examination.

     So if you look, starting at about line 16 of page 147, Ms. Giridhar is talking about the company's design criteria, and in her answer at around lines 21 to 24, she's talking about:

"The implementation of the design criteria is to ensure that we actually enter into contracting arrangements that give us that supply reliability."

     And then Mr. Vegh referred -- as he did more than once -- he referred here to the fact that this is a matter of judgment:

"Determining what contract portfolio provides that is a matter of judgment."

     Again now, in the context of transportation, is the judgment that Enbridge Gas Distribution is bringing to bear in this case any different from what you would expect from or have seen from any other responsible utility in North America?

     DR. OVERCAST:  Well, they're kinder than some, but in general, this is exactly what an LDC does.  They say:  We've got to have enough firm capacity, made up of a whole long laundry list of what that capacity might be, to meet our design day and potentially with some reserves.  And I think that what they're doing is a reasonable approach to addressing the issue of providing reliable service.

     MR. CASS:  All right.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Dr. Balsillie has one question, or has questions for the panel.


QUESTIONS BY THE PANEL:

DR. BALSILLIE:  Thank you.  I would like to turn to some questions from Ian Mondrow with regard to the 3,000 large customers on your list.  And I'm just -- I'm asking for clarification, because what I didn't understand, you said you were going to do a study of the size distribution of the large-volume customers; is that right?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


DR. BALSILLIE:  You're going to do a study?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


DR. BALSILLIE:  So of the 3,000 customers, you don't know what the size distribution is right now?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we've certainly looked at it.  It's not an in-depth study.  For example, I think we have determined that the top -- and again, I'm speaking from memory -- that the top five customers would contribute, let's say, 100,000 gJs.


So essentially, there are some customers that are very large, and a lot of small customers, so it's really --


DR. BALSILLIE:  A lot of small large customers?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Small large customers, if I may say that.  So --


DR. BALSILLIE:  And you talked about you prefer to curtail only 50.  Now you talk about five.  Are we talking five?  Are we talking 50?  I guess what I'm trying to get at is, well, how did you come to this 50?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  We think 50 is sort of the outer limit of what we could curtail effectively in the time period that's required.  However, depending on our ability to install remote shut-off valves, for instance, that number could grow.


So we need to really assess, does curtailing require us to actually send a fitter out to each of these locations, or is there some ability to install equipment that would allow us to curtail them?


So I think that assessment needs to be made.  It's not just the relative size of the customers, but at what point is it economic to curtail.


DR. BALSILLIE:  So it has to do as much with how you cut them off as whether they are larger or small larger?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


DR. BALSILLIE:  Okay.  And then, just to follow up on the undertaking from Mr. Wolnik, the gas-fired generators, do you have any idea as to where they fit into that spectrum of large -- the five large, the 50, or is it one of the -- because they're only on peaking, eh?  Like, the gas-fired generators are going to be peaking plants?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Excuse me.


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So essentially Gorway and PEC are the largest customers on our system.  In addition, we have other power generators who are smaller, and today they tend to be fairly high load-factor customers.  They're not peaking customers.  And they're amongst our largest customers.  So they would be within the top five customers on our system, the bundled power generators.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Okay.  Madam Chair, is it possible that that kind of information could be included in the undertaking for Mr. Wolnik, in terms of --

     MS. NOWINA:  Whether the gas generator is full?

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Whether the gas generator would be curtailed on a semi-regular basis because they're in the top five?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.  Yes.  We could certainly take a look at that.

     MS. NOWINA:  Either include it in the undertaking or have a separate undertaking.  Which would be most convenient?

     MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we could include that in that undertaking.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. BALSILLIE:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.  I don't have any questions either.  So we're finished.

Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, court reporter.

And we will resume again next Thursday, May 14th, at 9:30, with which panel first?

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, it will be the Direct Energy --

     MS. NOWINA:  The Direct Energy panel --


MR. HOAKEN:  -- panel will be first.


MS. NOWINA:  -- will start off.  Right.  Thank you, everyone.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:06 p.m.
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